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PART 7. [ALL DEFENDANTS] ADMIRALTY/MARITIME, CIVIL RIGHTS, CONSTITUTIONAL 

RIGHTS, AND RICO ACT CLAIMS AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS FOR WHICH RELIEF IS SOUGHT 

FOR FRAUD AND FALSE STATES (18 U.S.C. § 1001), OBSTRUCTIONS OF JUSTICE, AND 

CONSPIRACIES TO OBSTRUCT JUSTICE AS PREDICATE OFFENSES FOR RACKETEERING 

ACTIVITIES UNDER THE RICO ACT   

 

CLAIM 1. All Defendants Committed Predicate Acts of Racketeering Through Fraud and 
False Statements,  Obstructions of Justice and/or Conspiracies to Obstruct Justice in 
Violation of the RICO Act. 

 

DISCUSSION 1. RICO CHARGES: USAM 4 CIVIL.R.M. § 109 

It is unlawful for anyone employed by or associated with any enterprise engaged in, or 
the activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct or 
participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise’s affairs through a 
pattern of racketeering activity or collection of unlawful debt. 18 U.S.C.A. § 
1962(c) (West 1984).  

The Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organization Act (RICO) was passed by Congress 
with the declared purpose of seeking to eradicate organized crime in the United States. 
Russello v. United States, 464 U.S. 16, 26-27, 104 S. Ct. 296, 302-303, 78 L. Ed. 2d 17 
(1983); United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 589, 101 S. Ct. 2524, 2532, 69 L. Ed. 
2d 246 (1981). A violation of Section 1962(c), requires:  

(1) conduct  

71 C.J.S. Pleading § 101. Theory and Nature of Action 

A declaration, complaint, or petition should proceed on [ ] definite [theories], [setting] forth the 
basis on which relief is sought, and state the facts essential to support [those theories]. If a 
complaint sets up two [or more] theories of recovery and the major theory fails, plaintiff may avail 
himself … of the minor [theories] if this works no injustice to his … opponent[s], and, if plaintiff 
adopts a wrong theory and fails to prove the cause of action intended, where he … proves any 
other cause of action embraced by the allegations in his or her pleading, he … may recover on that. 

71 C.J.S. Pleading § 102 Theory and Nature of Action—Ascertaining Nature of Action 

Where a complaint presents two [or more] theories, the theory [or theories] adopted should be the 
one [or ones] which is [or are] more clearly authorized or intended by the facts pleaded. 

Intention of Pleader 

The court will, when possible, sustain the theory [or theories] intended by the pleader, and follow 
such theory [or theories] if it is [or they are] supported by the allegations.  

71 C.J.S. Pleading § 149 Two or More Causes of Action 

Where it is sought to set out two or more causes of action in the same pleading, and joinder of such 
causes of action in one action is permissible, it is not only proper to set out the different causes of 
action in separate counts, so that each cause of action will constitute a separate count and each 
count will embrace only one cause of action, but it is also necessary, as a general rule, to do so, 
even though they grow out of the same transaction.  
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(2) of an enterprise  

(3) through a pattern  

(4) of racketeering activity.  

Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479, 496, 105 S. Ct. 3275, 3285, 87 L. Ed. 2d 346 (1985). 

A more expansive view holds that in order to be found guilty of violating the RICO 
statute, the government [Plaintiff’s Note: the civil plaintiff suing the U.S. Government 
under the civil RICO Act] must prove beyond a reasonable doubt:  

(1) that an enterprise existed;  

(2) that the enterprise affected interstate commerce;  

(3) that the defendant was associated with or employed by the enterprise;  

(4) that the defendant engaged in a pattern of racketeering activity; and  

(5) that the defendant conducted or participated in the conduct of the 
enterprise through that pattern of racketeering activity through the 
commission of at least two acts of racketeering activity as set forth in the 
indictment.  

United States v. Phillips, 664 F. 2d 971, 1011 (5th Cir. Unit B Dec. 1981), cert. denied, 457 U.S. 
1136, 102 S. Ct. 1265, 73 L. Ed. 2d 1354 (1982).  

An enterprise is defined as including any individual, partnership, 1  corporation, 
association, or other legal entity,2 and any union or group of individuals associated in 
fact although not a legal entity. 18 U.S.C.A. § 1961(4) (West 1984). Many courts have 
noted that Congress mandated a liberal construction of the RICO statute in order 
to effectuate its remedial purposes by holding that the term enterprise has an 
expansive statutory definition.3 United States v. Delano, 825 F. Supp. 534, 538-39 
(W.D.N.Y. 1993), aff’d in part, rev’d in part, 55 F. 3d 720 (2d Cir. 1995), cases cited 
therein. 

Pattern of racketeering activity requires at least two acts of racketeering activity committed 
within ten years of each other. 18 U.S.C.A. § 1961(5) (West 1984). Congress intended a fairly 
flexible concept of a pattern in mind. H.J., Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Tel. Co., 492 U.S. 229, 
239, 109 S. Ct. 2893, 2900, 106 L. Ed. 2d 195 (1989). The government must show that the 
racketeering predicates are related, and that they amount to or pose a threat of 
continued criminal activity. Id.  

Racketeering predicates are related if they have the same or similar purposes, results, 
participants, victims, or methods of commission, or otherwise are interrelated by distinguishing 
characteristics and are not isolated events. Id. at 240, 109 S. Ct. at 2901; Ticor Title Ins. Co. v. 
Florida, 937 F. 2d 447, 450 (9th Cir. 1991). Furthermore, the degree in which these factors 
establish a pattern may depend on the degree of proximity, or any similarities in goals or 

                                                      
1 Plaintiff’s Note: For the purpose of this case Partnership is defined as branches and agencies of the U.S. 
Government involving the delegation authority of the U.S. Congress and the federal agencies. 
2 Plaintiff’s emphasis: Other legal entity = The United States Government. 
3 Enterprise encompasses the United States Government. 
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methodology, or the number of repetitions. United States v. Indelicato, 865 F. 2d 1370, 1382 
(2d Cir.), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 811, 110 S. Ct. 56, 107 L. Ed. 2d 24 (1989). 

Continuity refers either to a closed period of repeated conduct, or to past conduct that by its 
nature projects into the future with a threat of repetition. H.J., Inc., 492 U.S. at 241-42, 109 S. 
Ct. at 2902. A party alleging a RICO violation may demonstrate continuity over a closed period 
by proving a series of related predicates extending over a substantial period of time. Id. 
Predicate acts extending over a few weeks or months and threatening no future criminal 
conduct do not satisfy this requirement as Congress was concerned with RICO in long-term 
criminal conduct. Id. 

As to the continuity requirement, the government may show that the racketeering acts found to 
have been committed pose a threat of continued racketeering activity by proving:  

(1) that the acts are part of a long-term association that exists for criminal 
purposes, or  

(2) that they are a regular way of conducting the defendant’s ongoing 
legitimate business, or  

(3) that they are a regular way of conducting or participating in an 
ongoing and legitimate enterprise. Id. 

When a RICO action is brought before continuity can be established, then liability 
depends on whether the threat of continuity is demonstrated. Id. However, Judge Scalia 
wrote in his concurring opinion that it would be absurd to say that at least a few months 
of racketeering activity. . .is generally for free, as far as RICO is concerned. Id. at 254, 
109 S. Ct. at 2908. 

Therefore, if the predicate acts involve a distinct threat of long-term 
racketeering activity, either implicit or explicit, a RICO pattern is established. 
Id. at 242, 109 S. Ct. at 2902.  

The RICO statute expressly states that it is unlawful for any person to conspire to violate 
any of the subsections of 18 U.S.C.A. § 1962. The government need not prove that the 
defendant agreed with every other conspirator, knew all of the other conspirators, or had 
full knowledge of all the details of the conspiracy. Delano, 825 F. Supp. at 542. All that 
must be shown is:  

(1) that the defendant agreed to commit the substantive racketeering 
offense through agreeing to participate in two racketeering acts;  

(2) that he knew the general status of the conspiracy; and  

(3) that he knew the conspiracy extended beyond his individual role.  

United States v. Rastelli, 870 F. 2d 822, 828 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 982, 110 S. Ct. 515, 
107 L. Ed. 2d 516 (1989). 
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DISCUSSION 2. CHARLES DOYLE, OBSTRUCTION OF JUSTICE: AN OVERVIEW OF SOME OF 

THE FEDERAL STATUTES THAT PROHIBIT INTERFERENCE WITH JUDICIAL, EXECUTIVE, OR 

LEGISLATIVE ACTIVITIES, SENIOR SPECIALIST, AMERICAN LAW DIVISION CONGRESSIONAL 

RESEARCH SERVICE (CRS) REPORT FOR CONGRESS, DECEMBER 27, 2007, 

 

This section provides the legal construction for my RICO Act claims against Defendants. All 
Claims in this Complaint refer back to this section for their legal construction under  

Citing Charles Doyle, OBSTRUCTION OF JUSTICE: AN OVERVIEW OF SOME OF THE FEDERAL 
STATUTES THAT PROHIBIT INTERFERENCE WITH JUDICIAL, EXECUTIVE, OR LEGISLATIVE ACTIVITIES, 
Senior Specialist, American Law Division Congressional Research Service (CRS) Report for Congress, 
December 27, 2007, (hereinafter refered to as Doyle, OBSTRUCTION OF JUSTICE), is my source for 
legal information that allows me to properly state my claims for which relief is sought under the 
RICO Act:  

A. Introduction 

Obstruction of justice is the frustration of governmental purposes by violence, 
corruption, destruction of evidence, or deceit. 4  It is a federal crime. In fact, 
federal obstruction of justice laws are legion; too many for even passing 

                                                      
4 Black’s describes obstruction of justice simply as any “interference with the orderly administration of law and 
justice,” BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY, 1107 (8th ed. 2004). 

78A C.J.S. Seamen § 33 Seaworthy Vessel — In General

A seaman’s right to a seaworthy vessel is a right arising under the general maritime law, it cannot be 
abrogated or limited by a contract; and the shipowner is under a duty to seamen to provide them with a 
seaworthy ship. In other words, there is an implied warranty in the contract of employment that the ship 
is seaworthy. 

Unseaworthiness was an obscure and relatively little used doctrine, largely because a shipowner’s duty 
before the Supreme Court’s decision in Mahnich v. Southern S.S. Co., Pa., 64 S.Ct. 455, 321 U.S. 96 
(1944), 88 L.Ed. 561,  was only to use due diligence to provide a seaworthy ship. That decision 
transformed the warranty of seaworthiness into a strict liability obligation, which is not satisfied by the 
exercise of due diligence or due care. Under the warranty of seaworthiness, the shipowner has an 
absolute duty to provide a seaworthy vessel. The duty is nondelegable. It is independent of the duty to 
reasonable care under the Jones Act and it is an obligation without fault or negligence. However, 
negligence may give rise to an unseaworthy condition, but an isolated negligent act does not priori create 
an unseaworthy condition. 

A breach of the duty occurs even though the shipowner has no actual or constructive knowledge of the 
unseaworthy condition, and the lack of knowledge or of an opportunity to correct the unseaworthy 
condition does not mitigate the shipowner’s duty. The warranty of seaworthiness obligates the vessel 
owner to furnish a vessel, appurtenances, gear, and crew which are reaswonably safe and fit for their 
intended use, and to maintain the vessel’s equipment in proper operating condition.  

A vessel is unseaworthy if it, its appurtenances, and crew are not reasonably fit and safe for their intended 
purpose or use, even though any condition rendering the vessel unfit is transitory in character. Also, a 
vessel is unseaworthy when the work method is not reasonably fit for its intended purpose, or where the 
vessel owner fails to train, instruct, or supervise  the employees working on board the vessel.  

An inadequate or improperly manned vessel is considered unseaworthy as a matter of law. A seaworthy 
vessel is one where no defective condition exists in the equipment, apputencances, crew, cargo, or gear of 
the vessel. 
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reference to all of them in a single report.5 This is a brief description of the some 
of the more prominent.6 

DISCUSSION 3. GENERAL OBSTRUCTION PROHIBITIONS 
The general federal obstruction of justice provisions are six:  

18 U.S.C. § 1512 (tampering with federal witnesses),7  

18 U.S.C. § 1513 (retaliating against federal witnesses),8 

18 U.S.C. § 1503 (obstruction of pending federal court proceedings),  

18 U.S.C. § 1505 (obstruction of pending Congressional or federal 
administrative proceedings),  

18 U.S.C. § 371 (conspiracy), and contempt.9 

In addition to these, there are a host of other statutes that penalize obstruction by 
violence, corruption, destruction of evidence, or deceit. 

C. Witness Tampering (18 U.S.C. 1512) 

Section 1512 applies to the obstruction of federal proceedings – judicial, 
Congressional, or executive.10 It consists of four somewhat overlapping crimes:  

                                                      
5 For this reason, theft and embezzlement statutes are beyond the scope of this report, even though they are often 
designed to prevent the frustration of government programs. 
6 Portions of this report draw upon two earlier documents, CRS Report 98-808, Perjury Under Federal Law: A 
Brief Overview, and CRS Report 98-832, Obstruction of Justice Under Federal Law: A Review of Some of the 
Elements. 
7 Plaintiff’s presumption that an unrepresented civil plaintiff can be a witness in his own civil action against the 
U.S. Government. 
8 Id. 
9 Contempt is a creature of statute and common law described in, but not limited to, 18 U.S.C. § 401, § 402; 
2 U.S.C. § 192. 
10 18 U.S.C. 1515(a)(1) (“As used in sections 1512 and 1513 of this title and in this section – (1) the term 
“official proceeding” means –  

(A) a proceeding before a judge or court of the United States, a United States magistrate judge, a 
bankruptcy judge, a judge of the United States Tax Court, a special trial judge of the Tax Court, a judge of the 
United States Court of Federal Claims, or a Federal grand jury;  

(B) a proceeding before the Congress;  

(C) a proceeding before a Federal Government agency which is authorized by law; or  

(D) a proceeding involving the business of insurance whose activities affect interstate commerce before any 
insurance regulatory official or agency or any agent or examiner appointed by such official or agency to examine 
the affairs of any person engaged in the business of insurance whose activities affect interstate commerce”).  

Federal prosecutions for obstructing state insurance proceedings appear to have been infrequent. For additional 
discussion of Section 1512 see, TWENTY-SECOND SURVEY OF WHITE COLLAR CRIME: OBSTRUCTION OF JUSTICE, 
44 American Criminal Law Review 794 (2007). 
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use of force or the threat of the use of force to prevent the 
production of evidence (18 U.S.C. 1512(a));  

use of deception or corruption or intimidation to prevent the 
production of evidence (18 U.S.C. 1512(b));  

destruction or concealment of evidence or attempts to do so (18 
U.S.C. 1512(c)); and  

witness harassment to prevent the production of evidence (18 U.S.C. 
1512(d)).  

The offenses have similar, but not identical, objectives and distinctive elements of 
knowledge and intent. Section 1512 also contains free standing provisions that 
apply to one or more of the offenses within the section. These deal with:  

affirmative defenses (18 U.S.C. 1512(e));  

jurisdictional issues (18 U.S.C. 1512(f),(g),(h));  

venue (18 U.S.C. 1512(i));  

sentencing (18 U.S.C. 1512(j)); and  

conspiracy (18 U.S.C. 1512(k)). (Whoever conspires to commit any 
offense under this section shall be subject to the same penalties as 
those prescribed for the offense the commission of which was the 
object of the conspiracy.) 

DISCUSSION 4. OBSTRUCTION BY VIOLENCE (18 U.S.C. 1512(A)[(2)]) 
Subsection 1512(a) has slightly different elements depending upon whether 
the offense involves a killing or attempted killing – 18 U.S.C. 1512(a)(1), or 
some other use of physical force or a threat – 18 U.S.C. 1512(a)(2).11  In 
essence, they condemn the use of violence to prevent a witness from testifying 
or producing evidence for an investigation and set their penalties according to 
whether the obstructive violence used is a homicide, an assault or a threat. In 
more exact terms, they declare: 

18 U.S.C. 1512(a)(2)  

II.  a. uses physical force, 
b. attempts to use physical force, 
c. uses the threat of physical force, or 
d. attempts to use the threat of physical force 

III. with the intent to 
a. influence, delay, or prevent testimony at an official 
proceeding 
b. cause or induce another to withhold testimony or an item 
at an official proceeding 
c. hinder, delay or prevent the communication to U.S. law 
enforcement authorities of a federal offense .... 

                                                      
11 Here and throughout this report the outline of the statute’s elements uses the language of the statute wherever 
possible. 
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d. cause or induce another to alter, conceal or destroy an 
item with the intent to make unavailable 
e. cause or induce another to evade process 
f. cause or induce another to fail to comply with process 

IV. shall be punished under § 1512(a)(3) in the 
case of: 

a. use or attempted use of physical force - imprisonment for 
not more than 20 years 
b. threats to use physical force - imprisonment for not more 
than 10 years 

DISCUSSION 5. AUXILIARY OFFENSES AND LIABILITY  
Subsection 1512(k) makes conspiracy to violate Section 1512 a separate 
offense subject to the same penalties as the underlying offense. The section 
serves as an alternative to a prosecution under 18 U.S.C. § 371 that outlaws 
conspiracy to violate any federal criminal statute. Section 371 is punishable by 
imprisonment for not more than 5 years and conviction requires the 
government to prove the commission of an overt act in furtherance of the 
scheme by one of the conspirators.12 Subsection 1512(k) has no specific overt 
act element, and the courts have generally declined to imply one under such 
circumstances.13 It remains to be seen whether, in the absence of an overt act 
element, venue over a subsection 1512(k) conspiracy is proper in any district in 
which only an overt act in its furtherance is committed.14 Regardless of which 
section is invoked, conspirators are criminally liable under the Pinkerton 
doctrine for any crime committed in the foreseeable furtherance of the 
conspiracy.15 

Accomplices to a violation of subsection 1512(a) may incur criminal liability by 
operation of 18 U.S.C. § 2, 3, 4, or 373 as well. Section 2 treats accomplices 
before the fact as principals. That is, it declares that those who command, 
procure or aid and abet in the commission of a federal crime by another, are to 
be sentenced as if they committed the offense themselves.16 As a general rule, 

                                                      
12 18 U.S.C. § 371. 
13 E.g., Whitfield v. United States, 543 U.S. 209, 214-15 (2004); United States v. Shabani, 513 U.S. 10, 17 
(1994). 
14 As general rule, a crime occurs and venue is thus proper where a conduct element occurs, and “where a crime 
consists of distinct parts which have different localities the whole may be tried where any part can be proved to 
have been done . . . cf. Hyde v. United States, 225 U.S. 347, 356-67 (1912)(venue proper against defendant in 
district where co-conspirator carried out overt acts even though there was no evidence that the defendant had 
ever entered that district or that the conspiracy was formed there),” United States v. Rodriguez-Moreno, 526 U.S. 
275, 280-82 (1999). Hyde was charged under section 5440 of the Revised Statutes, an earlier version of 18 
U.S.C. § 371, that contained an overt act requirement, 225 U.S. at 349. 
15 Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640, 646-48 (1946); United States v. Moran, 493 F.3d 1002, 1009 (9th 
Cir. 2007); United States v. Roberson, 474 F.3d 432, 433 (7th Cir. 2007); United States v. Lake, 472 F.3d 1247, 
1265 (10th Cir. 2007). 
16 18 U.S.C. § 2 (“(a) Whoever commits an offense against the United States or aids, abets, counsels, commands, 
induces or procures its commission, is punishable as a principal. (b) Whoever willfully causes an act to be done 
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“[i]n order to aid and abet another to commit a crime it is necessary that a 
defendant in some sort associate himself with the venture, that he participate in 
it as in something he wishes to bring about, that he seek by his action to make 
it succeed.”17 It is also necessary to prove that someone else committed the 
underlying offense.18 

Section 3 outlaws acting as an accessory after the fact,19 which occurs when 
“one knowing that an offense has been committed, receives, relieves, comforts 
or assists the offender in order to hinder his or her apprehension, trial, or 
punishment.”20 Prosecution requires the commission of an underlying federal 
crime by someone else. 21  An offender cannot be both a principal and an 
accessory after the fact to the same offense.22 Offenders face sentences set at 
one half of the sentence attached to the underlying offense, or if the underlying 
offense is punishable by life imprisonment or death, by imprisonment for not 
more than 15 years (and a fine of not more than $250,000).23 

Although at first glance section 4’s misprision prohibition may seem to be a 
failure-to-report offense, misprision of a felony under the section is in essence a 
concealment offense. 24  “The elements of misprision of a felony under 18 
U.S.C. § 4 are  

                                                                                                                                                                              
which if directly performed by him or another would be an offense against the United States, is punishable as a 
principal”). 
17 Nye & Nissen v. United States, 336 U.S. 613, 619 (1949); United States v. Pnado Franco, 503 F.3d 389, 396 
(5th Cir. 2007); United States v. Kemp, 500 F.3d 257, 293 (3d Cir. 2007); see also, United States v. Wilson, 160 
F.3d 732, 739 (D.C. Cir. 1998)(aiding and abetting a subsection 1512(a) offenses)(“Aiding and abetting requires 
the government to prove: (1) the specific intent to facilitate the commission of a crime of by another; (2) guilty 
knowledge; (3) that the other was committing an offense; and (4) assisting or participating in the commission of 
the offense”). 
18 United States v. Garcia-Carrasquillo, 483 F.3d 124, 130 (1st Cir. 2007); United States v. Hassoun, 476 F.3d 
1181, 1183 n.2 (11th Cir. 2007); United States v. Reifler, 446 F.3d 65, 96 (2d Cir. 2006). 
19 18 U.S.C. § 3 (“Whoever, knowing that an offense against the United States has been committed, receives, 
relieves, comforts or assists the offender in order to hinder or prevent his apprehension, trial or punishment, is an 
accessory after the fact. . .”). 
20 United States v. Gianakos, 415 F.3d 912, 920 n.4 (8th Cir. 2005); United States v. DeLaRosa, 171 F.3d 215, 
221 (5th Cir. 1999); United States v. Irwin, 149 F.3d 565, 571 (7th Cir. 1998). 
21 United States v. Hill, 279 F.3d 731, 741 (9th Cir. 2002); United States v. DeLaRosa, 171 F.3d 215, 221 (5th 
Cir. 1999); United States v. Irwin, 149 F.3d 565, 571 (7th Cir. 1998). 
22 United States v. Taylor, 322 F.3d 1209, 1211-212 (9th Cir. 2003). 
23 18 U.S.C. § 3 (“. . .Except as otherwise expressly provided by any Act of Congress, an accessory after the fact 
shall be imprisoned not more than one-half the maximum term of imprisonment or (notwithstanding section 
3571) fined not more than one-half the maximum fine prescribed for the punishment of the principal, or both; or 
if the principal is punishable by life imprisonment or death, the accessory shall be imprisoned not more than 15 
years”). 
24 18 U.S.C. § 4 (“Whoever, having knowledge of the actual commission of a felony cognizable by a court of the 
United States, conceals and does not as soon as possible make known the same to some judge or other person in 
civil or military authority under the United States, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than three 
years, or both”). 
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(1) the principal committed and completed the felony alleged;  

(2) the defendant had full knowledge of that fact;  

(3) the defendant failed to notify the authorities; and  

(4) defendant took steps to conceal the crime.”25  

The offense is punishable by imprisonment for not more than 3 years and/or a 
fine of not more than $250,000.26 

Solicitation to commit an offense under subsection 1512(a), or any other crime 
of violence, is prohibited in 18 U.S.C. § 373.27 “To establish solicitation under 
§ 373, the Government must demonstrate that the defendant  

(1) had the intent for another to commit a crime of violence and  

(2) solicited, commanded, induced or otherwise endeavored to 
persuade such other person to commit the crime of violence under 
circumstances that strongly corroborate evidence of that intent.”28  

Section 373 provides an affirmative statutory defense for one who prevents the 
commission of the solicited offense.29 Offenders face penalties set at one half of 
the sanctions for the underlying offense, but imprisonment for not more than 

                                                      
25 United States v. Gebbie, 294 F.3d 540, 544 (3d Cir. 2002); United States v. Cefalu, 85 F.3d 964, 969 (2d Cir. 
1996); United States v. Vasquez-Chan, 978 F.2d 546, 555(9th Cir. 1992); United States v. Adams, 961 F.3d 505, 
508 (5th Cir. 1992). 
26 18 U.S.C. § 4, § 3571. 
27 18 U.S.C. § 373(a)(“Whoever, with intent that another person engage in conduct constituting a felony that has 
as an element the use, attempted use, or threatened use of physical force against property or against the person of 
another in violation of the laws of the United States, and under circumstances strongly corroborative of that 
intent, solicits, commands, induces, or otherwise endeavors to persuade such other person to engage in such 
conduct, shall be imprisoned not more than one-half the maximum term of imprisonment or (notwithstanding 
section 3571) fined not more than one-half of the maximum fine prescribed for the punishment of the crime 
solicited, or both; or if the crime solicited is punishable by life imprisonment or death, shall be imprisoned for not 
more than twenty years”). In United States v. Fisher, 494 F.3d 5, 7-8 (1st Cir. 2007), the First Circuit upheld a 
conviction for “solicitation to commit a crime of violence, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 373. The particular crime of 
violence specified in the indictment was the murder of a cooperating federal witness. See 18 U.S.C. § 
1512(a)(1)(A).” 
28 United States v. Caldwell, 433 F.3d 378, 390 (4th Cir. 2005); United States v. Rahman, 189 F.3d 88, 125 (2d 
Cir. 1999); United States v. Rahman, 34 F.3d 1331, 1337 (7th Cir. 1994); United States v, Buckalew, 859 F.2d 
1052, 1052-53 (1st Cir. 1988). 
29  18 U.S.C. § 373(b), (c)(“(b) It is an affirmative defense to a prosecution under this section that, under 
circumstances manifesting a voluntary and complete renunciation of his criminal intent, the defendant prevented 
the commission of the crime solicited. A renunciation is not “voluntary and complete” if it is motivated in whole 
or in part by a decision to postpone the commission of the crime until another time or to substitute another victim 
or another but similar objective. If the defendant raises the affirmative defense at trial, the defendant has the 
burden of proving the defense by a preponderance of the evidence. (c) It is not a defense to a prosecution under 
this section that the person solicited could not be convicted of the crime because he lacked the state of mind 
required for its commission, because he was incompetent or irresponsible, or because he is immune from 
prosecution or is not subject to prosecution.”). 
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20 years, if the solicited crime of violence is punishable by death or 
imprisonment for life.30 

A subsection 1512(a) violation opens up the prospect of prosecution for other 
crimes for which a violation of subsection 1512(a) may serve as an element. 
The racketeering statutes (RICO) outlaw acquiring or conducting the affairs of 
an interstate enterprise through a pattern of “racketeering activity.” 31  The 
commission of any of a series of state and federal crimes (predicate offenses) 
constitutes a racketeering activity.32 Section 1512 offenses are RICO predicate 
offenses.33 RICO violations are punishable by imprisonment for not more that 
20 years (or imprisonment for life if the predicate offense carries such a 
penalty), a fine of not more than $250,000 and the confiscation of related 
property.34 

DISCUSSION 6. OBSTRUCTION BY INTIMIDATION, THREATS, PERSUASION, OR DECEPTION 

(18 U.S.C. § 1512(B))  
The second group of offenses within Section 1512 outlaws obstruction of 
federal Congressional, judicial, or administrative activities by intimidation, 
threat, corrupt persuasion or deception, 18 U.S.C. 1512(b). Parsed to its 
elements, it provides that: 

I. Whoever 
II. knowingly 

A. uses intimidation 
B. threatens, or 
C. corruptly persuades another person, or 
D. attempts to do so, or 
E.  1. engages in misleading conduct 35  

                                                      
30 18 U.S.C. § 373. 
31 18 U.S.C. § 1961-1963. 
32 18 U.S.C. § 1961. 
33 Id. E.g., United States v. Diaidone, 471 F.3d 371 (2d Cir. 2006). 
34 18 U.S.C. § 1963. For a general discussion of RICO see, TWENTY-SECOND SURVEY OF WHITE COLLAR CRIME: 
RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS, 44 American Criminal Law Review 901 (2007); and CRS 
Report 96-950, RICO: A BRIEF SKETCH. 
35 “As used in sections 1512 and 1513 of this title and in this section . . .  

(3) the term ‘misleading conduct’ means –  

(A) knowingly making a false statement;  

(B) intentionally omitting information from a statement and thereby causing a 
portion of such statement to be misleading, or intentionally concealing a material 
fact, and thereby creating a false impression by such statement;  

(C) with intent to mislead, knowingly submitting or inviting reliance on a writing 
or recording that is false, forged, altered, or otherwise lacking in authenticity;  
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2. toward another person, 
III. with intent to 

A.  1.  a. influence, 
 b. delay, or 

  c. prevent 
2. the testimony of any person 
3. in an official proceeding,36 or 

B. cause or induce any person to 
1.  a.  i. withhold testimony, or 

   ii. withhold a 
 (I) record, 
 (II) document, or 
  (III) other object, 

  b. from an official proceeding, or 
 2.  a.  i. alter, 
 ii. destroy, 
 iii. mutilate, or 
 iv. conceal 
 b. an object 
 c. with intent to impair 
 d. the object's 
 i. integrity or 
 ii. availability for use 
 e. in an official proceeding, 
 3.  a. evade 
 b. legal process 
 c. summoning that person 
 i. to appear as a witness, or 

                                                                                                                                                                              
(D) with intent to mislead, knowingly submitting or inviting reliance on a sample, 
specimen, map, photograph, boundary mark, or other object that is misleading in 
a material respect; or  

(E) knowingly using a trick, scheme, or device with intent to mislead,”  

18 U.S.C. 1515(a)(3). 
36 “(a) As used in sections 1512 and 1513 of this title and in this section –  

(1) the term ‘official proceeding’ means –  

(A) a proceeding before a judge or court of the United States, a United States magistrate, a 
bankruptcy judge, a judge of the United States Tax Court, a special trial judge of the Tax 
Court, a judge of the United States Claims Court, or a Federal grand jury;  

(B) a proceeding before the Congress;  

(C) a proceeding before a Federal Government agency which is authorized by law; or  

(D) a proceeding involving the business of insurance whose activities affect interstate 
commerce before any insurance regulatory official or agency or any agent or examiner 
appointed by such official or agency to examine the affairs of any person engaged in the 
business of insurance whose activities affect interstate commerce,”  

18 U.S.C. 1515(a)(1). 
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 ii. to produce a 
 (I) record, 
 (II) document, or 
 (III) other object, 
 iii. in an official proceeding, i.e., a 
 (I) federal court proceeding, 
 (II) federal grand jury proceeding, 
 (III) Congressional proceeding, 
 (IV) federal agency proceeding, or 
 (V) proceeding involving the insurance business; 
or 
 4.  a. be absent 
 b. from an official proceeding, 
 c. to which such person has been summoned by legal process; 
or 

C.  1.  a. hinder, 
 b. delay, or 
 c. prevent 
 2. the communication to a 
 a. federal judge or 
 b. federal law enforcement officer 37 
 3. of information relating to the 
 a. commission or 
 b. possible commission of a 
 4.  a. federal offense or 
 b. [a] violation of conditions of 
 i. probation, 
 ii. supervisor release, 
 iii. parole, or 
 iv. release pending judicial proceedings; 
shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 10 years, 
or both.38 

                                                      
37 “(a) As used in sections 1512 and 1513 of this title and in this section . . .  

(4) the term ‘law enforcement officer’ means an officer or employee of the Federal 
Government, or a person authorized to act for or on behalf of the Federal Government or serving 
the Federal Government as an adviser or consultant –  

(A) authorized under law to engage in or supervise the prevention, detection, 
investigation, or prosecution of an offense; or  

(B) serving as a probation or pretrial services officer under this title,”  

18 U.S.C. 1515(a)(4). 
38 18 U.S.C. 1512(b). “Shall be fined under this title” refers to the fact that as a general rule in the case of 
felonies 18 U.S.C. 3571 calls for fines of not more than the greater of $250,000 for individuals ($500,000 for 
organizations) or of twice the amount of the gain or loss associated with the offense. 

As in the case of subsection 1512(a), if a subsection 1512(b) obstruction is committed in connection with the trial 
of a criminal charge which is more severely punishable, the higher penalty applies to the subsection 1512(b) 
violation as well, 18 U.S.C. 1512(j). 
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DISCUSSION 7. OBSTRUCTION BY HARASSMENT (18 U.S.C. 1512(D))  
The obstruction by harassment prohibition in subsection 1512(d) appeared 
in subsection 1512(c) until redesignated by Sarbanes-Oxley, and declares: 

I. Whoever, 
II. intentionally, 
III. harasses another person, and thereby 
IV.  A. hinders, 
 B. delays, 
 C. prevents, or 
 D. dissuades, 
V. any person from 
 A.  1. attending or 
  2. testifying in 
  3. an official proceeding, or 
 B. reporting 
  1.  a. to a law enforcement officer, or 
   b. judge 
   c. of the United States, 
  2.  a. the commission, or 
   b. possible commission, of 
  3.  a. a federal offense, or 
   b. a violation of the conditions of 
    i. probation, 
    ii. supervised release, 
    iii. parole, or 
    iv. release pending judicial proceedings, or 
 C.  1. arresting, or 
  2. seeking to arrest 
  3. another person 
  4. in connection with a federal offense, or 
 D. causing 
  1.  a. a criminal prosecution, or 
   b. a parole revocation proceeding, or 
   c. a probation revocation proceeding 
  2.  a. to be sought, or 
   b. instituted, or 
  3. assisting in such prosecution or proceeding, or 
VI. attempts to do so 
shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than one year, or 
both.39 

DISCUSSION 8. OBSTRUCTING FEDERAL COURTS (18 U.S.C. 1503) : THE OMNIBUS 

PROVISION 
Unlike Section 1512, Section 1503 does not [  ] apply to the 
obstruction of Congressional or administrative proceedings,40 

                                                      
39 18 U.S.C. § 1512(d). 
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and in most circuits at least it does not apply to obstruction 
unless the impeded proceedings are pending.41 Nevertheless, it 
condemns obstructing pending judicial proceedings by means 
of any of four methods. Three explicitly address interfering 
with federal jurors or court officials; the fourth, the so-called 
omnibus provision, speaks to interfering with the “due 
administration of justice”: 

I. Whoever 
II.  A. corruptly or 
 B. by threats or force, or 
 C. by any threatening letter or communication, 
III.  A. influences, 
 B. obstructs, or 
 C. impedes, or 
 D. endeavors to 
  1. influence, 
  2. obstruct, or 
  3. impede, 
IV. the due administration of justice, 
shall be punished as provided in subsection (b).42 

The courts often observe that to convict under this omnibus or “catchall” 
provision the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt:  

(1) that there was a pending judicial proceeding,  

(2) that the defendant knew this proceeding was 
pending, and  

(3) that the defendant then corruptly 
endeavored to influence, obstruct, or impede 
the due administration of justice.43 

As to the first two elements, the Supreme Court has maintained for over a 
century that “a person is not sufficiently charged with obstructing or impeding 
the due administration of justice in a court unless it appears that he knew or 
had notice that justice was being administered in such court.”44 There is no 

                                                                                                                                                                              
40 Both sections are discussed in TWENTY-SECOND SURVEY OF WHITE COLLAR CRIME: OBSTRUCTION OF JUSTICE, 44 
American Criminal Law Review 794 (2007). 
41 United States v. Aguilar, 515 U.S. 593, 599 (1995), citing, Pettibone v. United States, 148 U.S. 197, 207 
(1893); but see conflicted lower appellate court opinions cited infra note Error! Bookmark not defined.. 
42 18 U.S.C. 1503(a). 
43 United States v. Monus, 128 F.3d 376, 387 (6th Cir. 1997); see also, United States v. Macari, 453 F.3d 926, 
936 (7th Cir. 2006); United States v. Cueto, 151 F.3d 620, 633 (7th Cir. 1998); United States v. Brenson, 104 
F.3d 1267, 1275 (11th Cir. 1997); United States v. Wood, 6 F.3d 692, 695 (10th Cir. 1993). 
44 United States v. Aguilar, 515 U.S. 593, 599 (1995), quoting, Pettibone v. United States, 148 U.S. 197, 206 
(1893). 
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requirement that the defendant’s endeavors succeed45 or even that they were 
capable of succeeding (as long as the accused was unaware of the futility of 
his efforts to obstruct).46 

In order to “corruptly endeavor” to obstruct the due administration of justice, 
“[t]he action taken by the accused must be with an intent to influence judicial 
or grand jury proceedings. . . . Some courts have phrased this showing as a 
nexus requirement – that the act must have a relationship in time, causation, 
or logic with the judicial proceedings. In other words, the endeavor must have 
the natural and probable effect of interfering with the due administration of 
justice.”47 The Supreme Court’s observations, notwithstanding, the courts are 
somewhat divided over whether the obstructed judicial proceedings must 
actually be pending.48 

The courts may be at odds as well over whether the due administration of 
justice in Section 1503 may be obstructed by corrupting a witness before a 
federal judicial proceeding or any other obstruction covered by 18 U.S.C. 
1512 or 1513. The Second Circuit held in 1991 that when Congress enacted 
the more specific witness tampering and witness retaliation provisions of 
sections 1512 and 1513 it intended to remove those crimes from the omnibus 
clause’s inventory of proscriptions. 49 The other circuits, to the extent they 

                                                      
45 United States v. Aguilar, 515 U.S. at 599, 600; United States v. Macari, 453 F.3d 926, 939 (7th Cir. 2006); 
United States v. Quattrone, 441 F.3d 153, 170 (2d Cir. 2006); United States v. McBride, 362 F.3d 360, 372 (6th 
Cir. 2004); United States v. Muhammad, 125 F.3d 608, 620 (8th Cir. 1997). Perhaps since an endeavoring-to-
obstruct charge covers both successful and unsuccessful endeavors and therefore eliminates the need to prove 
success, prosecutors ordinarily charge an endeavor to obstruct or impede, even if there is evidence of success and 
a charge of simple obstruction might have been brought. 
46 United States v. Tackett, 113 F.3d 603, 611 (6th Cir. 1997)(“Although the omnibus clause of §1503 requires 
that a defendant’s actions were intended to obstruct an actual judicial proceeding, the government need not 
prove that the actions had their intended effect. Furthermore, an endeavor to obstruct justice violates the law 
even if, unbeknownst to the defendant, the plan is doomed to failure from the start”), citing, United States v. 
Osborn, 385 U.S. 323, 333 (1966). 
47 United States v. Aguilar, 515 U.S. 593, 599 (1995), citing, United States v. Wood, 6 F.3d 692, 696 (10th Cir. 
1993), and United States v. Walasek, 527 F.2d 676, 679 (3d Cir. 1975); see also, United States v. Johnson, 485 
F.3d 1264, 1270 (11th Cir. 2007); United States v. Quattrone, 441 F.3d 153, 170-71 (2d Cir. 2006); United 
States v. Joiner, 418 F.3d 863, 868 (8th Cir. 2005); United States v. Weber, 320 F.3d 1047, 1051 (9th Cir. 
2003). 
48 United States v. Quattrone, 441 F.3d 153, 170 (2d Cir. 2006)(emphasis added)(“In order to convict for 
obstruction of justice under the omnibus clause of Section 1503, the government must establish (1) that there is a 
pending judicial or grand jury proceeding constituting the administration of justice. . .”); accord, United States v. 
Weber, 320 F.3d 1047, 1050 (9th Cir. 2003); United States v. Fassnacht, 332 F.3d 440, 447 (7th Cir. 2003); 
United States v. Steele, 241 F.3d 302, 304-5 (3d Cir. 2001); United States v. Sharpe, 193 F.3d 852, 864 (5th 
Cir. 1999); United States v. Layne, 192 F.3d 556, 572 (6th Cir. 1999); United States v. Frankhauser, 80 F.3d 
641, 650-51 (1st Cir. 1966); United States v. Littleton, 76 F.3d 614, 618-19 (4th Cir. 1996); contra, United States 
v. Novak, 217 F.3d 566, 571-72 (8th Cir. 2000); see also United States v. Vaghela, 169 F.3d 729, 732-34 (11th 
Cir. 1999)(pendency not necessarily required in cases of conspiracy to violate Section 1503); United States v. 
Bruno, 383 F.3d 65, 87 (2d Cir. 2004)(proceedings need not be pending but there must be evidence from which 
to infer that they were anticipated in the case of a conspiracy to violate Section 1503). 
49 United States v. Masterpol, 940 F.2d 760, 762 (2d Cir. 1991). 
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have later addressed the issue, disagree. 50  Notwithstanding apparent 
opportunities to reconsider,51 the Second Circuit has found it unnecessary to 
do so thus far. 

The specific kinds of misconduct which will provide the basis for a prosecution 
under the omnibus clause of Section 1503 vary considerably.52 Subsection 
1515(c), however, makes it clear that bona fide legal advice will not provide 
the basis for a prosecution under the omnibus clause of Section 1503 nor 
under any other obstruction of justice prohibition found in the same chapter 
for that matter.53 

DISCUSSION 9. CONSPIRACY TO OBSTRUCT (18 U.S.C. 371)  
If two or more persons conspire either to commit any offense against the 
United States or to defraud the United States, or any agency thereof in any 
manner or for any purpose, and one or more of such persons do any act to 

                                                      
50 United States v. Tackett, 113 F.3d 603, 607 (6th Cir. 1997) (“The Second Circuit has held that the enactment 
of new witness protection laws in 1982 and 1988 means that the government must prosecute witness tampering 
under the new law, 18 U.S.C. §1512, rather than under §1503. The other circuits that have addressed the issue 
have reached the opposite conclusion. See United States v. Malone, 71 F.3d 645, 659 (7th Cir. 1995)(noting that 
Fourth, Ninth and Eleventh Circuits have held that the omnibus clause of §1503 continues to cover witness 
tampering; United States v. Kenny, 973 F.2d 339, 342-43 (4th Cir. 1992)(noting the same for First, Fifth, Eighth 
and Ninth Circuits); see also United States v. Ladum, 141 F.3d 1328, 1337-338 (9th Cir. 1998); United States v. 
LeMoure, 474 F.3d 37, 40-41 (1st Cir. 2007). 
51 United States v. Bruno, 383 F.3d 65, 87 n.16 (2d Cir. 2004)(“Because the defendants were prosecuted for 
lying to federal investigators instead of federal grand jury witnesses, we had no occasion to address the issue 
discussed above regarding our conclusion in Masterpol that charges of lying to, or trying to influence grand jury 
witnesses should be prosecuted under §1512”); United States v. Genao, 343 F.3d 578, 585 (2d Cir. 2003)(“We 
hold that the indictment in the instant case does not set forth a sufficient nexus between Genao’s false statements 
and a federal judicial proceeding so as to establish a violation of §1503”); United States v. Schwarz, 283 F.3d 76, 
110 (2d Cir. 2002); United States v. Quattrone, 441 F.3d 153, 169-73 (2d Cir. 2006)(finding evidence sufficient 
to establish a nexus between the defendant’s destruction of documents and the grand jury proceedings for which 
they had been subpoenaed). 
52 United States v. Brown, 459 F.3d 509, 530-31 (5th Cir. 2006)(false testimony before the grand jury); United 
States v. Macari, 453 F.3d 926, 936 (7th Cir. 2006)(directing a witness to lie before the grand jury); United States 
v. Quattrone, 441 F.3d 153, 169-73 (2d Cir. 2006)(destruction of documents sought under a grand jury 
subpoena); United States v. Joiner, 418 F.3d 863, 865-66 (8th Cir. 2005)(retaliatory economic harassment of 
federal judge and prosecutors responsible for the defendant’s earlier conviction); United States v. Weber, 320 
F.3d 1047, 1051 (9th Cir. 2003)(threatening to kill the judge presiding over the defendant’s supervised release 
revocation hearing); United States v. Novak, 217 F.3d 566, 569-72 (8th Cir. 2000)(submission of false financial 
reports in violation of court order governing supervised release); United States v. Fleming, 215 F.3d 930, 933-34 
(9th Cir. 2000)(filing false liens against the property of a federal judge in an effort to influence the judge’s 
handling of a civil action); United States v. Layne, 192 F.3d 556, 572 (6th Cir. 1999)(attempt to influence the 
testimony of a criminal trial witness); United States v. Muhammad, 120 F.3d 688 (7th Cir. 1997)(civil trial juror’s 
solicitation of a bribe); United States v. Atkin, 107 F.3d 1213 (6th Cir. 1997) (promising to bribe a trial judge). 
53 “This chapter does not prohibit or punish the providing of lawful, bona fide, legal representation services in 
connection with or anticipation of an official proceeding,” 18 U.S.C. 1515(c). 
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effect the object of the conspiracy, each shall be fined under this title or 
imprisoned not more than five years, or both. 18 U.S.C. 371.54 

DISCUSSION 10. CONSPIRACY TO DEFRAUD  
Section 371 contains both a general conspiracy prohibition and a specific 
obstruction conspiracy prohibition in the form of a conspiracy to defraud 
proscription. The elements of conspiracy to defraud the United States are:  

(1) an agreement of two more individuals;  

(2) to defraud the United States; and  

(3) an overt act by one of conspirators in furtherance of the scheme.55 

The “fraud covered by the statute ‘reaches any conspiracy for the purpose of 
impairing, obstructing or defeating the lawful functions of any department of 
Government” 56 by “deceit, craft or trickery, or at least by means that are 
dishonest.”57 The scheme may be designed to deprive the United States of 
money or property, but it need not be so; a plot calculated to frustrate the 
functions of a governmental entity will suffice.58 

DISCUSSION 11. CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT A SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSE  
The elements of conspiracy to commit a substantive federal offense are:  

“(1) an agreement between two or more persons to commit a 
specified federal offense,  

                                                      
54 For addition discussion of Section 1512 see, TWENTY-SECOND SURVEY OF WHITE COLLAR CRIME: FEDERAL 
CRIMINAL CONSPIRACY, 44 American Criminal Law Review 523 (2007). 
55 United States v. World Wide Moving, 411 F.3d 502, 516 (4th Cir. 2005); United States v. Ballistrea, 101 F.3d 
827, 832 (2d Cir. 1996). 
56 Tanner v. United States, 483 U.S. 107, 128 (1987), citing, Dennis v. United States, 384 U.S. 855, 861 (1966); 
Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60, 66 (1942); Hammerschmidt v. United States, 265 U.S. 182, 188 (1924); 
and Haas v. Henkel, 216 U.S. 462, 479 (1910). 
57 Hammerschmidt v. United States, 265 U.S. at 188 (“To conspire to defraud the United States means primarily 
to cheat the Government out of property or money, but also mens to interfere with or obstruct one of its lawful 
governmental functions by deceit, craft or trickery, or at least by means that are dishonest”); Glasser v. United 
States, 315 U.S. at 66 (“The indictment charges that the United States was defrauded by depriving it of its lawful 
governmental functions by dishonest means; it is settled that this is a ‘defrauding. . .’”). 
58 Hammerschmidt v. United States, 265 U.S. at 188 (“It is not necessary that the government shall be subjected 
to property or pecuniary loss by the fraud, but only that its legitimate official action and purpose shall be defeated 
by misrepresentation. . .”); United States v. World Wide Moving, 411 F.3d 502, 516 (4th Cir. 2005); United 
States v. Goldberg, 105 F.3d 770, 773 (1st Cir. 1997); United States v. Ballistrea, 101 F.3d 827, 832 (2d Cir. 
1996) (internal citations omitted) (This “provision ‘not only reaches schemes which deprive the government of 
money or property, but also is designed to protect the integrity of the United States and its agencies’”); United 
States v. Dean, 55 F.3d 640, 647 (D.C. Cir. 1995)(internal citations omitted)(If “the government’s evidence 
showed that Dean conspired to impair the functioning of the department of the Housing and Urban 
Development, ‘no other form of injury to the Federal Government need be established for the conspiracy to fall 
under § 371’”). 
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(2) the defendant’s knowing and willful joinder in that common 
agreement, and  

(3) some conspirator’s commission of an overt act in furtherance 
of the agreement.”59 

Conspirators must be shown to have exhibited the same level of intent as 
required for the underlying substantive offense.60 The overt act need only be 
furtherance of the scheme; it need not be the underlying substance offense or 
even a crime at all.61 Conspirators are liable for the underlying offense should 
it be accomplished and for any reasonably foreseeable offense committed by 
a coconspirator in furtherance of the common plot.62 

As noted earlier, a number of federal statues including sections 1512 and 
1513 include within their proscriptions a separate conspiracy feature that 
outlaws plots to violate the section’s substantive provisions.63 The advantage 
for prosecutors of these individual conspiracy provisions is that they carry the 
same penalties as the underlying substantive offense and that they ordinarily 
do not require proof of an overt act.64 The disadvantage is that they may lack 
the venue flexibility afforded by subsection 371 and other conspiracy 
provisions that contain an overt act element.65 Although sections 1512 and 

                                                      
59 United States v. Snype, 441 F.3d 119, 142 (2d Cir. 2006); see also, United States v. Munoz-Frnaco, 487 F.3d 
25, 45 (1st Cir. 2007); United States v. Mann, 493 F.3d 484, 492 (5th Cir. 2007); United States v. Blackwell, 459 
F.3d 739, 760 (6th Cir. 2006); United States v. Soy, 454 F.3d 766, 768 (7th Cir. 2006); United States v. Chong, 
419 F.3d 1076, 1079 (9th Cir. 2005); United States v. Weidner, 437 F.3d 1023, 1033 (10th Cir. 2006); United 
States v. Ndiaye, 434 F.3d 1270, 1294 (11th Cir. 2006). 
60 United States v. Feola, 420 U.S. 671, 686 (1975); United States v. Munoz-Franco, 487 F.3d 25, 45 (1st Cir. 
2007); United States v. Soy, 454 F.3d 766, 768 (7th Cir. 2006); United States v. Weidner, 437 F.3d 1023, 1033 
(10th Cir. 2006); cf., United States v. Ching Tang Lo, 447 F.3d 1212, 1232 (9th Cir. 2006). 
61 United States v. Soy, 454 F.3d 766, 768 (7th Cir. 2006); United States v. May, 359 F.3d 683, 694 n.18 (4th 
Cir. 2004); United States v. Lukens, 114 F.3d 1220, 1222 (D.C. Cir. 1997); cf., Braverman v. United States, 317 
U.S. 49, 53 (1942). 
62 Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640, 646-48 (1946); United States v. Moran, 493 F.3d 1002, 1009 (9th 
Cir. 2007); United States v. Roberson, 474 F.3d 432, 433 (7th Cir. 2007); United States v. Lake, 472 F.3d 1247, 
1265 (10th Cir. 2007). 
63 E.g., 18 U.S.C. 1512(k)(“Whoever conspires to commit any offense under this subsection shall be subject to the 
same penalties as those prescribed for the offense the commission of which was the object of the conspiracy”). 
Subsection 1513(e) is similarly worded. 
64 Where Congress enacts a conspiracy provision without an explicit overt act requirement as in the Sherman Act, 
conviction may be had without proof of an overt act, Whitfield v. United States, 543 U.S. 209, 212-14 
(2005)(construing 18 U.S.C. 1956(h)); United States v. Shabani, 513 U.S. 10, 14 (1994)(construing 21 U.S.C. 
846). 
65 The Constitution provides that crimes must be tried in the state and district in which they occur, U.S. Const. Art. 
II, §2, cl.3; Amend. VI. The Supreme Court has said that when the elements of a crime are committed in more 
than one state or district the crime may be tried in any district in which one of its elements is committed, United 
States v. Rodriguez-Moreno, 526 U.S. 275, 280-82 (1999). Conspiracies with an overt act element may be tried 
anywhere an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy is committed, United States v. Cabrales, 524 U.S. 1, 8-9 
(1998). 
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1513 provide an alternative means of prosecuting a charge of conspiracy to 
violate their underlying prohibitions, the government may elect to proceed 
under general conspiracy statute, 18 U.S.C. 371. 

DISCUSSION 12. CRIMINAL CONTEMPT OF COURT  
The final and oldest of the general obstruction provisions is contempt. The 
crime of contempt of court comes to us from antiquity. Blackstone speaks of 
the power to punish disturbances in the presence of the king’s courts that 
existed before the Conquest,66 and he notes that the common law classified as 
contempt the failing to heed the writs or summons of the king or his courts of 
justice.67 The first Congress empowered the federal courts “to punish by fine 
or imprisonment, at the discretion of said courts, all contempts of authority in 
any cause or hearing.”68 

Contemporary federal contempt is derived from statute, rule and inherent or 
auxiliary authority. Section 401 of title 18 of the United States Code notes the 
power of a federal court to punish by fine or imprisonment misconduct 
committed in the presence of the court or by its officers and disobedience of 
its orders. 69  Rule 42 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure supplies 
procedures to be followed in such cases, other than those dealt with 
summarily. Section 402 provides for a jury trial when the allegations of 
criminal contempt also constitute separate federal or state criminal offenses.70 

                                                      
66 IV Blackstone, Commentaries of the Laws of England 124 (1769). 
67 Id. at 122 (“Contempts against the prerogative may also be . . . by disobeying the king’s lawful commands; 
whether by writs issuing out of his courts of justice, or by a summons to attend his privy council, or by letters from 
the king to a subject commanding him to return from beyond the seas. . . . Disobedience of any of these 
commands is a high misprision and contempt”). 
68 1 Stat. 83 (1789). 
69 “A court of the United States shall have power to punish by fine or imprisonment, at its discretion, such 
contempt of its authority, and none other, as –  

(1) Misbehavior of any person in its presence or so near thereto as to obstruct the administration of 
justice;  

(2) Misbehavior of any of its officers in their official transactions;  

(3) Disobedience or resistance to its lawful writ, process, order, rule, decree, or command,”  

18 U.S.C. 401. 
70 “Any person, corporation or association willfully disobeying any lawful writ, process, order, rule, decree, or 
command of any district court of the United States or any court of the District of Columbia, by doing any act or 
thing therein, or thereby forbidden, if the act or thing so done be of such character as to constitute also a criminal 
offense under any statute of the United States or under the laws of any State in which the act was committed, 
shall be prosecuted for such contempt as provided in section 3691 of this title [relating to jury trials in criminal 
contempt cases] and shall be punished by a fine under this title or imprisonment, or both. Such fine shall be paid 
to the United States or to the complainant or other party injured by the act constituting the contempt, or may, 
where more than one is so damaged, be divided or apportioned among them as the court may direct, but in no 
case shall the fine to be paid to the United States exceed, in case the accused is a natural person, the sum of 
$1,000, nor shall such imprisonment exceed the term of six months. This section shall not be construed to relate 
to contempts committed in the presence of the court, or so near thereto as to obstruct the administration of 
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Contempt may be civil or criminal. Civil contempt is coercive and remedial, 
calculated to compel the recalcitrant to obey the orders of the court or 
compensate an opponent aggrieved by the failure to do so. 71  Criminal 
contempt is punitive.72 

DISCUSSION 13. OBSTRUCTION OF JUSTICE BY BRIBERY  
Section 1512(b) outlaws witness tampering by corrupt persuasion. Several other 
federal statutes outlaw bribery in one form or another. The main federal bribery 
statute is 18 U.S.C. 201 which prohibits bribing federal officials, employees, jurors 
and witnesses. Although it makes no mention of bribery, the honest services 
component of the mail and wire fraud statutes, 18 U.S.C. 1341, 1343, 1346, in 
some circumstances may afford prosecutors of public corruption greater latitude 
and more severe penalties than section 201. The Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. 1951, 
condemns public officials who use their position for extortion. A few other statutes, 
noted below, outlaw bribery to obstruct specific governmental activities. 

N. Obstruction by Extortion Under Color of Official Right (18 U.S.C. 1951) 

The Hobbs Act outlaws the obstruction of interstate or foreign commerce by means 
of robbery or extortion.73 under the Act comes in two forms: 

                                                                                                                                                                              
justice, nor to contempts committed in disobedience of any lawful writ, process, order, rule, decree, or command 
entered in any suit or action brought or prosecuted in the name of, or on behalf of, the United States, but the 
same, and all other cases of contempt not specifically embraced in this section may be punished in conformity to 
the prevailing usages at law. For purposes of this section, the term “State” includes a State of the United States, 
the District of Columbia, and any commonwealth, territory, or possession of the United States,” 18 U.S.C. 402. 
71 International Union, United Mine Workers v. Bagwell, 512 U.S. 821, 827-28 (1994). Civil contempt and other 
noncriminal judicial sanctions are beyond the scope of this report. A partial list of such sanctions would include  

28 U.S.C. 1927 (award cost expenses, attorney's fees against attorneys who multiply proceedings);  

28 U.S.C. 1826 (recalcitrant witnesses);  

F.R.Civ.P. 11 (sanction a party or the party's attorney for filing groundless pleadings, motions or 
other papers);  

F.R.Civ.P. 16(f) (sanction a party or party's attorney for failure to abide by a pretrial order);  

F.R.Civ.P. 26(g) (sanction a party or party's attorney for baseless discovery requests or objections);  

F.R.Civ.P. 30(g) (award expenses caused by failure to attend a deposition or to serve a subpoena 
on a party to be deposed);  

F.R.Civ.P. 37(d), (g) (award expenses when a party fails to respond to discovery requests or fails 
to participate in the framing of a discovery plan);  

F.R.Civ.P. 41(b) (dismiss an action or claim of a party that fails to prosecute, to comply with the 
Federal Rules or to obey an order of the court);  

F.R.Civ.P. 56(g) (award expenses or contempt damages when a party presents an affidavit in a 
summary judgment motion in bad faith or for the purpose of delay);  

F.R.App. P. 38 (power to award damages and costs for frivolous appeal). 
72 Id. 
73 18 U.S.C. 1951 (“(a) Whoever in any way or degree obstructs, delays, or affects commerce or the movement of 
any article or commodity in commerce, by robbery or extortion or attempts or conspires so to do, or commits or 
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extortion induced by fear and  

extortion under color of official right.74  

Extortion under color of official right occurs when a public official receives a 
payment to which he is not entitled, knowing it is being provided in exchange for 
the performance of an official act.75 Liability may be incurred by public officers and 
employees, those in the process of becoming public officers or employees, those 
who hold themselves out to be public officers or employees, their coconspirators, 
or those who aid and abet public officers or employees in extortion under color or 
official right.76 The payment need not have been solicited,77 nor need the official 
act for which it is exchanged have been committed. 78  The prosecution must 
establish that the extortion obstructed, delayed, or affected interstate or foreign 
commerce, but proof of a potential impact even one that is not particularly severe 
may be sufficient.79 

                                                                                                                                                                              
threatens physical violence to any person or property in furtherance of a plan or purpose to do anything in 
violation of this section shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than twenty years, or both. (b) As 
used in this section . . . (2) The term ‘extortion’ means the obtaining of property from another, with his consent, 
induced by wrongful use of actual or threatened force, violence, or fear, or under color of official right. (3) The 
term ‘commerce’ means commerce within the District of Columbia, or any Territory or Possession of the United 
States; all commerce between any point in a State, Territory, Possession, or the District of Columbia and any 
point outside thereof; all commerce between points within the same State through any place outside such State; 
and all other commerce over which the United States has jurisdiction. . . .”). 
74 United States v. Cruz-Arroyo, 461 F.3d 69, 73 (1st Cir. 2006); United States v. Kelley, 461 F.3d 817, 826 (6th 
Cir. 2006). 
75 Evans v. United States, 504 U.S. 255, 268 (1992); United States v. D’Amico, 496 F.3d 95, 101 (1st Cir. 2007); 
United States v. Kelley, 461 F.3d 817, 826 (6th Cir. 2006); United States v. Urban, 404 F.3d 754, 768 (3d Cir. 
2005); United States v. Cruzado-Laureano, 404 F.3d 470, 481 (1st Cir. 2005). 
76 United States v. Kelley, 461 F.3d 817, 827 (6th Cir. 2006); United States v. Rubio, 321 F.3d 517, 521 (5th Cir. 
2003); United States v. Hairston, 46 F.3d 361, 366 (4th Cir. 1995); United States v. Freeman, 6 F.3d 586, 593 
(9th Cir. 1993). 
77 United States v. Foster, 443 F.3d 978, 984 (8th Cir. 2006)(the color of official right “element does not require 
an affirmative act of inducement by the official”); United States v. Cruz-Arroyo, 461 F.3d 69, 73-4 (1st Cir. 
2006); United States v. Urban, 404 F.3d 754, 768 (3d Cir. 2005). 
78 Evans v. United States, 504 U.S. 255, 268 (1992)(“the offense is completed at the time when the public official 
receives a payment in return for his agreement to perform specific official acts; fulfillment of the quid pro quo is 
not an element of the offense”); United States v. Foster, 443 F.3d 978, 984 (8th Cir. 2006); United States v. 
Urban, 404 F.3d 754, 768 (3d Cir. 2005). 
79 United States v. D’Amico, 496 F.3d 95, 103 (1st Cir. 2007)(internal quotation marks and citations omitted) (“to 
prove a completed extortion, the government had to satisfy the Hobbs Act’s jurisdiction element of showing that 
D’Amico’s conduct obstructed, delayed, or affected commerce. To meet this requirement, the government had to 
prove only that there was a realistic probability that D’Amico’s conduct would affect interstate commerce”); 
United States v. Foster, 443 F.3d 978, 984 (8th Cir. 2005)(“it is enough that the conduct had the potential to 
impact commerce”); United States v. Urban, 404 F.3d 754, 766 (3d Cir. 2005)(internal quotation marks and 
citations omitted)(“In any individual case, proof of a de minimis effect on interstate commerce is all that is 
required. And . . . such a de minimis effect in an individual Hobbs Act case need only be potential”). 
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Hobbs Act violations are punishable by imprisonment for not more than 20 years 
and a fine of not more than $250,000.80 Hobbs Act offenses are RICO and money 
laundering predicates. 81  The Act has a separate conspiracy component, but 
recourse to prosecution of conspiracy under 18 U.S.C. 371 is an alternative.82 An 
offender may incur criminal liability under the misprision statute or as a principal or 
accessory before the fact to a violation of the Hobbs Act by another.83 

O. Obstruction of Justice by Deception  

In addition to the obstruction of justice provisions of 18 U.S.C. 1503 and 1512, 
there are four other general statutes that outlaw obstructing the government’s 
business by deception. Three involve perjury:  

18 U.S.C. 1623 which outlaws false swearing before federal courts 
and grand juries;  

18 U.S.C. 1621 the older and more general prohibition that proscribes 
false swearing in federal official matters (judicial, legislative, or 
administrative); and  

18 U.S.C. 1622 which condemns subornation, that is, inducing 
another to commit perjury.  

The fourth, 18 U.S.C. 1001, proscribes material false statements 
concerning any matter within the jurisdiction of a federal executive 
branch agency, and to a somewhat more limited extent within the 
jurisdiction of the federal courts or a Congressional entity. 

DISCUSSION 14. FALSE STATEMENTS (18 U.S.C. 1001)  
The general false statement statute, 18 U.S.C. 1001, outlaws false statements, 
concealment, or false documentation in any matter within the jurisdiction of 
any of the three branches of the federal government, although it limits 
application in the case of Congress and the courts.84 More specifically it states: 

                                                      
80 18 U.S.C. 1951(a) 
81 18 U.S.C. 1961(1), 1956(c)(7)(A). 
82 E.g., United States v. Hatcher, 323 F.3d 666, 669 (8th Cir. 2003); Louisiana v. Guidry, 489 F.3d 692, 695 (5th 
Cir. 2007)(Guidry successfully negotiated a plea agreement under which he pleaded guilty in federal court to one 
count of conspiracy to commit extortion in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 371 and 1951. . .”). 
83 18 U.S.C. § 4, 2, 3. 
84 There are scores of more limited false statement statutes that relate to particular agencies or activities and 
include 8 U.S.C.1160(b)(7)(A) (applications for immigration status); 15 U.S.C. 158 (China Trade Act corporate 
personnel); 15 U.S.C. 645 (Small Business Administration); 15 U.S.C. 714m (Commodity Credit Corporation); 
16 U.S.C. 831t ( TVA); 18 U.S.C. 152 ( bankruptcy); 18 U.S.C. 287 (false or fraudulent claims against the 
United States); 18 U.S.C. 288 (postal losses); 18 U.S.C. 289 (pensions); 18 U.S.C. 541 (entry of goods falsely 
classified); 18 U.S.C. 542 (entry of goods by means of false statements); 18 U.S.C. 550 (refund of duties); 18 
U.S.C. 1003 (fraudulent claims against the United States); 18 U.S.C. 1007 (FDIC transactions); 18 U.S.C. 1011 
(federal land bank mortgage transactions); 18 U.S.C. 1014 (loan or credit applications in which the United 
States has an interest); 18 U.S.C. 1015 (naturalization, citizenship or alien registry); 18 U.S.C. 1019 (false 
certification by consular officer); 18 U.S.C. 1020 (highway projects); 18 U.S.C. 1022 (false certification 
concerning material for the military); 18 U.S.C. 1027 (ERISA); 18 U.S.C. 1542 (passport applications); 18 
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I. Except as otherwise provided in this section, 

II. whoever, in any matter within the jurisdiction of the executive, 
legislative, or judicial branch of the Government of the United States, 

III. knowingly and willfully – 

IV.  a. falsifies, conceals, or covers up by any trick, scheme, or device 
a material fact; 

b. makes any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or 
representation; or 

c. makes or uses any false writing or document knowing the same 
to contain any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement 
or entry; 

 shall be fined under this title, imprisoned not more than 5 years or, 
imprisoned not more than 8 years if the offense involves international or 
domestic terrorism (as defined in section 2331) or if the matter relates to an 
offense under chapter 109A (sexual abuse), 109B (sex offender registration), 
110 (sexual exploitation), or 117 (transportation for illicit sexual purposes), or 
Section 1591 (sex trafficking).85 

The courts’ description of the elements will ordinarily be limited to whichever 
of the forms of misconduct – false statement, 86  concealment, 87  or false 

                                                                                                                                                                              
U.S.C. 1546 (fraud in connection with visas, permits and other documents); 22 U.S.C. 1980 (compensation for 
loss of commercial fishing vessel or gear); 22 U.S.C. 4221 (American diplomatic personnel); 22 U.S.C. 4222 
(presentation of forged documents to United States foreign service personnel); 42 U.S.C. 408 (old age claims); 
42 U.S.C. 1320a-7b (Medicare). 
85 18 U.S.C. 1001(a). For addition discussion of Section 1512 see, TWENTY-SECOND SURVEY OF WHITE COLLAR 
CRIME: FALSE STATEMENTS AND FALSE CLAIMS, 44 American Criminal Law Review 491 (2007). 
86 United States v. Blackwell, 459 F.3d 739, 761 (6th Cir. 2006)(“Section 1001 of Title 18 prohibits any person 
from  

(1) ‘knowingly and willfully’;  

(2) ‘making any material false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation’;  

(3) ‘in any matter within the jurisdiction of the executive, legislative , or judicial branch of the Government of the 
United States”);  

United States v. Rice, 449 F.3d 887, 892 (8th Cir. 2006); United States v. Hatch, 434 F.3d 1, 5 (1st Cir. 2006); 
United States v. Camper, 384 F.3d 1073, 1075 (9th Cir. 2004). 
87 United States v. Moore, 446 F.3d 671, 677 (7th Cir. 2006)(“We have identified the five elements of a ‘false 
statement’ charge under §1001(a)(2) . . .  

(1) the defendant must . . have a duty to disclose the information;  

(2) . . . there must be acts amounting to concealment;  

(3) the . . . concealed facts must be material;  

(4) the person must . . . conceal the facts knowingly and willfully; and  

(5) the . . . concealed information must concern a matter within the jurisdiction of a federal department or 
agency”). 
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documentation 88 – is implicated in the particular case. In addition, Section 
1001 imposes a limitation upon an offense that involves matters within the 
jurisdiction of either the judicial or legislative branch: 

(b) Subsection (a) does not apply to a party to a judicial 
proceeding, or that party's counsel, for statements, 
representations, writings or documents submitted by such party 
or counsel to a judge or magistrate in that proceeding. 

(c) With respect to any matter within the jurisdiction of the 
legislative branch, subsection (a) shall apply only to – (1) 
administrative matters, including a claim for payment, a matter 
related to the procurement of property or services, personnel or 
employment practices, or support services, or a document 
required by law, rule, or regulation to be submitted to the 
Congress or any office or officer within the legislative branch; or 
(2) any investigation or review, conducted pursuant to the 
authority of any committee, subcommittee, commission or office 
of the Congress, consistent with applicable rules of the House or 
Senate. 18 U.S.C. 1001(b), (c). 

Those limitations constitute elements of the offense in such cases.89 

A matter is within the jurisdiction of a federal entity when it involves a matter 
“confided to the authority of a federal agency or department . . . A department 
or agency has jurisdiction, in this sense, when it has power to exercise 
authority in a particular situation. Understood in this way, the phrase ‘within 
the jurisdiction’ merely differentiates the official, authorized functions of a 
agency or department from matters peripheral to the business of that body.”90 
Several courts have held that the phrase contemplates coverage of false 
statements made to state, local, or private entities but relating to matters that 
involve federal funds or regulations. 91  Subsection 1001(b) precludes 

                                                      
88 United States v. McGauley, 279 F.3d 62, 69 (1st Cir. 2002)(“To establish a violation of 18 U.S.C. 1001, the 
government must prove that the defendant knowingly and willfully made or used a false writing or document, in 
relation to a matter with the jurisdiction of the United States government with knowledge of its falsity”); United 
States v. Blankenship, 382 F.3d 1110, 1131-132 (11th Cir. 2004). 
89 United States v. Horvath, 492 F.3d 1075, 1077 (9th Cir. 2007); United States v. Pickett, 353 F.3d 62, 66-69 
(D.C. Cir. 2004). 
90 United States v. Rodgers, 466 U.S. 475, 479 (1984); United States v. Atalig, 502 F.3d 1063, 1068 (9th Cir. 
2007); United States v. Blankenship, 382 F.3d 1110, 1136 (11th Cir. 2004); United States v. White, 270 F.3d 
356, 363 (6th Cir. 2001). 
91 United States v. White, 270 F.3d 356, 363 (6th Cir. 2001)(“We have in the past looked to whether the entity to 
which the statements were made received federal support and/or was subject to federal regulation”); United 
States v. Davis, 8 F.3d 923, 929 (2d Cir. 1993)(“In situations in which a federal agency is overseeing a state 
agency, it is the mere existence of the federal agency’s supervisory authority that is important to determining 
jurisdiction”), contra, United States v. Blankenship, 382 F.3d 1110, 1139, 1141 (11th Cir. 2004)(emphasis in the 
original) (“The clear, indisputable holding of Lowe is that a misrepresentation made to a private company 
concerning a project that is the subject of a contract between that company and the federal government does not 
constitute a misrepresentation about a matter within the jurisdiction of the federal government. . . . Because 
neither Lowe not its central holding has ever been overruled . . . it remains good law”). 
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application of prohibitions in Section 1001(a) to the statements, omissions, or 
documentation presented to the court by a party in judicial proceedings. This 
includes statements of indigency filed by a defendant seeking the appoint of 
counsel,92 or by a defendant for a probation officer’s presentence report;93 but 
not statements made by one on supervised release to a parole officer.94 

Although the offense can only be committed “knowingly and willfully,” the 
prosecution need not prove that the defendant knew that his conduct involved 
a “matter within the jurisdiction” of a federal entity95 nor that he intended to 
defraud a federal entity.96 Instead, the phrase “knowingly and willfully” refers 
to the circumstances under which the defendant made his statement, omitted a 
fact he was obliged to disclose, or included with his false documentation, i.e., 
“that the defendant knew that his statement was false when he made it or – 
which amounts in law to the same thing – consciously disregarded or averted 
his eyes from the likely falsity.”97 

Prosecution for a violation of Section 1001 requires proof of materiality, as 
does conviction for perjury, and the standard is the same: the statement must 
have a “natural tendency to influence, or be capable of influencing the 
decisionmaking body to which it is addressed.”98 There is no need to show 
that the decision maker was in fact diverted or influenced.99 

Conviction for false statements or false documentation under Section 1001 
also requires that the statements or documentation be false, that they not be 
true.100 And the same can be said of the response to a question that is so 
fundamentally ambiguous that the defendant’s answer cannot be said to be 

                                                      
92 United States v. McNeil, 362 F.3d 570, 573 (9th Cir. 2004)(but observing that “[s]ubmitting a false CJA-23 
form may subject a defendant to criminal liability under other statutes, for example, under 18 U.S.C. 1621, the 
general statute on perjury, or 18 U.S.C. 1623, which punishes the making of a false material declaration in any 
proceeding, before, or ancillary to, any court”). 
93 United States v. Horvath, 492 F.3d 1075, 1078-1081 (9th Cir. 2007). 
94 United States v. Curtis, 237 F.3d 598, 605 (6th Cir. 2001). 
95 United States v. Yermian, 468 U.S. 63, 75 (1984); United States v. Gonzales, 435 F.3d 64, 72 (1st Cir. 2006). 
96 United States v. Gonzales, 435 F.3d 64, 72 (1st Cir. 2006). 
97 Id.; United States v. Duclos, 214 F.3d 27, 33 (1st Cir. 2000); United States v. Hsia, 176 F.3d 716, 721-22 
(D.C. Cir. 1999); United States v. Hoover, 175 F.3d 564, 571 (7th Cir. 1999). 
98 United States v. Johnson, 485 F.3d 1264, 1270 (11th Cir. 2007); United States v. McBane, 433 F.3d 344, 350 
(3d Cir. 2005); United States v. Stewart, 433 F.3d 273, 318 (2d Cir. 2006); United States v. Mitchell, 388 F.3d 
1139, 1143 (8th Cir. 2004); United States v. Finn, 375 F.3d 1033, 1038 (10th Cir. 2004). 
99 United States v. McBane, 433 F.3d 344, 350 (3d Cir. 2005), quoting, United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506, 
512 (1995); United States v. Stewart, 420 F.3d 1007, 1019 (9th Cir. 2005); United States v. Mitchell, 388 F.3d 
1139, 1143 (8th Cir. 2004); United States v. Hasner, 340 F.3d 1261, 1273-274 (11th Cir. 2003). 
100 United States v. Good, 326 F.3d 589, 592 (4th Cir. 2003)(“The principle articulated in Bronston holds true for 
convictions under Section 1001. . . We cannot uphold a conviction . . . where the alleged statement forming the 
basis of a violation of Section 1001 is true on its face”); United States v. Edwards, 303 F.3d 606, 637 (5th Cir. 
2002); United States v. Kosth, 257 F.3d 712, 719 (7th Cir. 2001). 
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knowingly false.101 On the other hand, unlike the perjury provision of Section 
1623, “there is no safe harbor for recantation or correction of a prior false 
statement that violates Section 1001.”102 

Prosecutions under subsection 1001(a)(1) for concealment, rather than false 
statement or false documentation, must also prove the existence of duty or 
legal obligation not to conceal.103 

 

DISCUSSION 15. EVIDENCE: EXERCISING MY RIGHT TO INCLUDE INTERNET NEWS 

REPORTS AS EVIDENTIARY EXHIBITS CONSTRUED AS ALTERNATIVE STATEMENTS OF 

CLAIMS UNDER RULE 8(D)(2) FED. R. CV. P. THAT SUPPORT MY PRIMARY STATEMENTS OF 

CLAIMS THROUGHOUT THIS COMPLAINT 
A. ALTERNATIVE STATEMENTS OF CLAIMS, Rule 8(d)(2) of the FEDERAL RULES OF 

CIVIL PROCEDURE states: 

“A party may set out two or more statements of a claim or defense 
alternatively or hypothetically, either in a single count or defense or in 
separate ones. If a party makes alternative statements, the pleading is 
sufficient if any one of them is sufficient.” 

 B. RELEVANT EVIDENCE, Rule 401 of the FEDERAL RULES OF EVIDENCE is defined as: 

“[E]vidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is 
of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less 
probable than it would be without the evidence.” 

C. ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE, Rule 402 of the FEDERAL RULES OF EVIDENCE provides that relevant 
evidence is generally admissible and irrelevant evidence is inadmissible: 

“All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the 
Constitution of the United States, by Act of Congress, by these rules, or by 
other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court pursuant to statutory 
authority. Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” 

                                                      
101 United States v. Culliton, 328 F.3d 1074, 1078 (9th Cir. 2003); United States v. Good, 326 F.3d 589, 592 
(4th Cir. 2003); cf., United States v. Martin, 369 F.3d 1046, 1060 (8th Cir. 2004); United States v. Hatch, 434 
U.S. 1, 4-5 (1st Cir. 2006). 
102 United States v. Stewart, 433 F.3d 273, 318 (2d Cir. 2006), citing, United States v. Sebaggala, 256 F.3d 59, 
64 (1st Cir. 2001); United States v. Meuli, 8 F.3d 1481, 1486-487 (10th Cir. 1993); and United States v. Fern, 
696 F.2d 1269, 1275 (11th Cir. 1983). 
103 United States v. Stewart, 433 F.3d 273, 318-19 (2d Cir. 2006)(“Defendant’s legal duty [as a broker] to be 
truthful under Section 1001 included a duty to disclose the information regarding the circumstances of Stewart’s 
December 27th trade . . . .Trial testimony indicated that the SEC had specifically inquired about [his] knowledge 
of Stewart’s trades. As a result, it was plausible for the jury to conclude that the SEC’s questioning had triggered 
[his] duty to disclose and that ample evidence existed that his concealment was material to the investigation ”); 
United States v. Moore, 446 F.3d 671, 678-79 (7th Cir. 2006)(regulatory obligation); United States v. Gibson, 
409 F.3d 325, 333 (6th Cir. 2005)(“Conviction on a 18 U.S.C. 1001 concealment charge requires a showing that 
the ‘defendant had a legal duty to disclose the facts at the time he was alleged to have concealed them’”), 
quoting, United States v. Curran, 20 F.3d 560, 566 (3d Cir. 1994). 
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Internet news sources provide relevant evidence by documenting the effectiveness or 
ineffectiveness of federal laws and international treaties. Therefore, it is my right to include news items 
from the Internet that have direct relevancy to this COMPLAINT as ALTERNATIVE STATEMENTS OF CLAIMS 
under Rule 8(d)(2) without prejudice by the Court or by the Defendants claiming such inclusions 
converts my Complaint into a political advocacy piece or some other irrelevant device with misleading 
attacks. 

DISCUSSION 16. CASE PRECEDENTS: CITING U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, 
RACKETEER INFLUENCED & CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS: A MANUAL FOR FEDERAL 

PROSECUTORS, FOURTH EDITION, JULY 2000 
II. DEFINITIONS: 18 U.S.C. § 1961104 

D. Enterprise 

The term enterprise includes any individual, partnership, corporation, association, or 
other legal entity, and any union or group of individuals associated in fact although not a 
legal entity. 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4). (For a full discussion of the enterprise’s required 
relationship to interstate and foreign commerce, see infra Section III(C)(3)). It is now 
settled that the term enterprise encompasses both legitimate and illegitimate enterprises. 
United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576 (1981).105 Prosecution under RICO, however, 
does not require proof that either the defendant or the enterprise was connected to 
organized crime.106 

                                                      
104 Prepared by the Staff of the Organized Crime and Racketeering Section (OCRS), U.S. Department of Justice, 
Washington, DC 20530, (pp. 39-46). Available Online at: 

http://www.usdoj.gov/usao/eousa/foia_reading_room/usam/title9/rico.pdf, 
105  See also United States v. Doherty, 867 F.2d 47, 68 (1st Cir. 1989); United States v. Blackwood, 768F.2d 131 
(7th Cir.), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 1020 (1985); United States v. Ruggiero, 726 F.2d 913, 923 (2d Cir.), cert. 
denied, 469 U.S. 831 (1984); United States v. Cauble, 706 F.2d 1322, 1330 (5th Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 465 
U.S. 1005 (1984); United States v. Lemm, 680 F.2d 1193, 1198 (8th Cir. 1982), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1110 
(1983); United States v. Bledsoe, 674 F.2d 647, 662 (8th Cir. 1982), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1040 (1983); United 
States v. Thevis, 665 F.2d 616, 626 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 1008 (1982); United States v. Griffin, 660 
F.2d 996, 999 (4th Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1156 (1982); United States v. Martino, 648 F.2d 367, 380-
81 (5th Cir. 1981), rev’d in part on other grounds, 681 F.2d 952 (5th Cir.) (en banc), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 949 
(1982); United States v. Clark, 646 F.2d 1259, 1267 n.7 (8th Cir. 1981); United States v. Sutton, 642 F.2d 1001, 
1006-09 (6th Cir. 1980) (en banc), cert. denied, 453 U.S. 912 (1981); United States v. Errico, 635 F.2d 152, 155 
(2d Cir. 1980), cert. denied, 453 U.S. 911 (1981); United States v. Provenzano, 620 F.2d 985, 992-93 (3d Cir.), 
cert. denied, 449 U.S. 899 (1980); United States v. Aleman, 609 F.2d 298, 304-05 (7th Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 
445 U.S. 946 (1980); United States v. Rone, 598 F.2d 564, 568-69 (9th Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 445 U.S. 946 
(1980); United States v. Swiderski, 593 F.2d 1246, 1248-49 (D.C. Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 441 U.S. 993 (1979). 
An enterprise, however, cannot be an inanimate object such as a bank account, Guidry v. Bank of LaPlace, 954 
F.2d 278, 283 (5th Cir. 1992), or an apartment building, Elliott v. Foufas, 867 F.2d 877, 881 (5th Cir. 1989). 
106 See National Organization for Women, Inc. v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 260 (1994); H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern 
Bell Telephone Co., 492 U.S. 229, 245, 248-49 (1989); United States v. Aucoin, 964 F.2d 1492, 1496 (5th Cir.), 
cert. denied, 506 U.S. 1023 (1992); United States v. Ruiz, 905 F.2d 499, 502 (1st Cir. 1990); Plains Resources, 
Inc. v. Gable, 782 F.2d 883, 886-87 (10th Cir. 1986); United States v. Hunt, 749 F.2d 1078, 1088 (4th Cir. 
1984), cert. denied, 472 U.S. 1018 (1985); United States v. Romano, 736 F.2d 1432, 1441 (11th Cir. 1985); 
United States v. Cauble, 706 F.2d 1322, 1330 (5th Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1005 (1984). See also 
United States v. Gottesman, 724 F.2d 1517, 1521 (11th Cir. 1984); Moss v. Morgan Stanley, Inc., 719 F.2d 5, 21 
(2d Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1025 (1984); Bennett v. Berg, 685 F.2d 1053, 1063 (8th Cir.), aff’d in part, 
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(2). Types of Enterprises 

The courts have given a broad reading to the term enterprise. Noting that Congress 
mandated a liberal construction of the RICO statute in order to effectuate its remedial 
purposes and pointing to the expansive use of the word includes in the statutory 
definition of the term, courts have held that the list of enumerated entities in Section 
1961(4) is not exhaustive but merely illustrative. 107  Thus public and governmental 
entities as well as private entities may constitute a RICO enterprise, 108  including 
commercial entities such as corporations109 or groups of corporations110 (both foreign and 

                                                                                                                                                                              
rev’d in part, 710 F.2d 1361 (8th Cir. 1982), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 1008 (1983); United States v. Bledsoe, 674 
F.2d 647, 663 (8th Cir. 1982), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1040 (1984); United States v. Uni Oil, Inc., 646 F.2d 946, 
953 (5th Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 455 U.S. 908 (1982); United States v. Aleman, 609 F.2d 298, 303 (7th Cir. 
1979), cert. denied, 423 U.S. 946 (1980); United States v. Campanale, 518 F. 1975), cert. denied, 423 U.S. 
1050 (1976). 
107 See United States v. London, 66 F.3d 1243-44 (1st Cir. 1995) (association-in-fact enterprise consisting of bar 
and check cashing business), cert. denied, 116 S. Ct. 1542 (1996); United States v. Aimone, 715 F.2d 822, 828 
(3d Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 468 U.S. 1217 (1984); United States v. Thevis, 665 F.2d 616, 625 (5th Cir.), cert. 
denied, 456 U.S. 1008 (1982); United States v. Angelilli, 660 F.2d 23, 31 (2d Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 455 U.S. 
945 (1982). See also United States v. Huber, 603 F.2d 387, 394 (2d Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 445 U.S. 927 
(1980); United States v. Perkins, 596 F. Supp. 528, 530-31 (E.D. Pa.), aff’d, 749 F.2d 28 (3d Cir. 1984), cert. 
denied, 471 U.S. 1015 (1985). Cf. United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 580 (1981) ([t]here is no restriction 
upon the associations embraced by the definition [of enterprise]). 
108 See United States v. Lee Stoller Enterprise, 652 F.2d 1313, 1318 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 517 U.S. 1155 
(1981); United States v. Clark, 646 F.2d 1259, 1263 (8th Cir. 1981); United States v. Frumento, 563 F.2d 1083, 
1090-92 (3d Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 1072 (1978); see also United States v. Brown, 555 F.2d 407, 415-
16 (5th Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 435 U.S. 904 (1978); United States v. Barber, 476 F. Supp. 182 (S.D. W. Va. 
1979), aff’d, 668 F.2d 778 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 829 (1982). 
109 See United States v. Kravitz, 738 F.2d 102, 113 (3d Cir. 1984) (health care delivery corporation), cert. denied, 
470 U.S. 1052 (1985); United States v. Hartley, 678 F.2d 961, 988 n.43 (11th Cir. 1982) (corporation producing 
seafood products), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1170 (1983); United States v. Webster, 639 F.2d 174, 184 n.4 (4th 
Cir.) (tavern and liquor store), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 857 (1981); United States v. Zemek, 634 F.2d 1159, 1167 
(9th Cir. 1980) (taverns), cert. denied, 450 U.S. 916 (1981); United States v. Weisman, 624 F.2d 1118, 1120 (2d 
Cir.) (theater), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 871 (1980); United States v. Swiderski, 593 F.2d 1246, 1248 (D.C. Cir. 
1978) (restaurant serving as front for narcotics trafficking), cert. denied, 441 U.S. 933 (1979); United States v. 
Brown, 583 F.2d 659, 661 (3d Cir. 1978) (auto dealership), cert. denied, 440 U.S. 909 (1979); United States v. 
Forsythe, 560 F.2d 1127, 1135-36 (3d Cir. 1977) (bail bond agency). 
110 See Securitron Magnalock Corp. v. Schnabolk, 65 F.3d 256, 262-64 (2d Cir. 1995) (defendant and two 
corporations constituted the RICO enterprise), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 1114 (1996); United States v. Kirk, 844 
F.2d 660, 664 (9th Cir.)(group of corporations), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 890 (1988); United States v. Huber, 603 
F.2d 387, 394 (2d Cir. 1979) (group of corporations can be an enterprise within meaning of RICO), cert. denied, 
445 U.S. 927 (1980); United States v. Perkins, 596 F. Supp. 528, 530-31 (E.D. Pa.), aff’d, 749 F.2d 28 (3d Cir. 
1984) (group of corporations set up by defendant to defraud government constituted a RICO enterprise), cert. 
denied, 471 U.S. 1015 (1985); United States v. Pryba, 674 F. Supp. 1504, 1508 (E.D. Va. 1987) (enterprise 
could consist of group of individuals and corporations); Snider v. Lone Star Art Trading Co., 659 F. Supp. 1249, 
1253 (E.D. Mich. 1987)(combination of individuals and corporations meets enterprise definition); Trak 
Microcomputer Corp. v. Wearne Bros., 628 F. Supp. 1089, 1094-95 (N.D. Ill. 1985) (group of corporations can 
constitute RICO enterprise). 
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domestic),111 partnerships,112 sole proprietorships113 and cooperatives;114 benevolent and 
non-profit organizations such as unions and union benefit funds, 115  schools, 116  and 
political associations;117 governmental units such as the offices of governors, state 
and congressional legislators, 118  courts and judicial offices, 119  police 

                                                      
111 See United States v. Parness, 503 F.2d 430, 439 (2d Cir. 1974) (foreign corporation can constitute a RICO 
enterprise), cert. denied, 419 U.S. 1105 (1975). 
112 See United States v. Cauble, 706 F.2d 1322, 1331 (5th Cir. 1983) (limited partnership), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 
1005 (1984); United States v. Zang, 703 F.2d 1186, 1194 (10th Cir. 1982) (partnership), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 
828 (1983); United States v. Griffin, 660 F.2d 996, 999 (4th Cir. 1981) (partnership may be enterprise), cert. 
denied, 454 U.S. 1156 (1982); Eisenberg v. Gagnon, 564 F. Supp. 1347, 1353 (E.D. Pa. 1983) (limited 
partnership); United States v. Jannotti, 501 F. Supp. 1182, 1185-86 (E.D. Pa. 1980), rev’d on other grounds, 
673 F.2d 578 (3d Cir.) (en banc) (law firm operated through payment of bribes), cert. denied, 457 U.S. 1106 
(1982). 
113 See United States v. Benny, 786 F.2d 1410, 1414-15 49 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 1017 (1986); 
McCullough v. Suter, 757 F.2d 142 (7th Cir. 1985); United States v. Tille, 729 F.2d 615, 618 (9th Cir.), cert. 
denied, 471 U.S. 1064 (1984); United States v. Melton, 689 F.2d 679, 685 (7th Cir. 1982); State Farm Fire & 
Casualty Co. v. Estate of Caton, 540 F. Supp. 673, 676 (N.D. Ind. 1982). However, the sole proprietorship is not 
favored as a RICO enterprise. See cases infra at pp. 73-75. 
114 See United States v. Bledsoe, 674 F.2d 647, 660 (8th Cir. 1982) (dicta), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1040 

(1983). 
115 See United States v. Norton, 867 F.2d 1354, 1359 (11th Cir. 1989) (the Laborers International Union of North 
America, its subordinate local unions and its affiliated employee benefit funds); United States v. Robilotto, 828 
F.2d 940, 947 (2d Cir. 1987) (Local 294 of the International Brotherhood of Teamsters), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 
1011 (1988); United States v. Provenzano, 688 F.2d 194, 199-200 (3d Cir.) (Local 560 of the Teamsters Union), 
cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1071 (1982); United States v. LeRoy, 687 F.2d 610, 616-17 1982) (Local 214 of Laborers 
International Union of North America), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1174 (1983); United States v. Scotto, 641 F.2d 47, 
51, 54 (2d Cir. 1980) (Local 1814 of the International Longshoremen’s Association), cert. denied, 452 U.S. 961 
(1981); United States v. Rubin, 559 F.2d 975, 989 (5th Cir. 1977) (unions and employees welfare benefit plans), 
vacated and remanded, 439 U.S. 810 (1978), aff’d in part and rev’d in part on other grounds, 591 F.2d 278 (5th 
Cir.), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 864 (1979); United States v. Kaye, 556 F.2d 855, 861-62 (7th Cir.) (Local 714 of the 
International Brotherhood of Teamsters), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 921 (1977); United States v. Campanale, 518 
F.2d 352, 355 (9th Cir. 1975) (applying RICO without discussion to Local 626 of the International Brotherhood 
of Teamsters), cert. denied, 423 U.S. 1050 (1976); United States v. Local 560, International Brotherhood of 
Teamsters, 581 F. Supp. 279, 335 (D.N.J. 1984), aff’d, 780 F.2d 267 (3d Cir. 1985) (Local 560 and its benefit 
fund), cert. denied, 476 U.S. 1140 (1986); United States v. Field, 432 F. Supp. 55, 57-58 (S.D.N.Y. 1977) 
(International Longshoremen’s Association), aff’d, 578 F.2d 1371 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 801 (1978); 
United States v. Ladmer, 429 F. Supp. 1231 (E.D.N.Y. 1977) (applying RICO without discussion to the 
International Production Service & Sales Employees Union, but dismissing action for failure to establish a pattern 
of racketeering activity); United States v. Stofsky, 409 F. Supp. 609 (S.D.N.Y. 1973) (applying RICO to a union 
representing workers in New York’s fur garment manufacturing industry), aff’d, 527 F.2d 237 (2d Cir. 1975), cert. 
denied, 429 U.S. 819 (1976). 
116 See United States v. Weatherspoon, 581 F.2d 595, 597-98 (7th Cir. 1978) (beauty college approved for 
veterans’ vocational training by the Veterans Administration). 
117   See Hudson v. LaRouche, 579 F. Supp. 623, 628 (S.D.N.Y. 1983) (unincorporated national political 
association affiliated with a political candidate). 
118 See United States v. Blandford, 33 F.3d 685, 703 (6th Cir.) (Office of the Representative for House District 14 
together with individuals employed therein), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1095 (1995); United States v. McDade, 28 
F.3d 283, 295-96 (3d Cir.) (Congressman McDade and his Congressional offices in Washington, D.C. and in the 
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departments and sheriffs’ offices, 120  county prosecutors’ offices, 121  tax 
bureaus, 122  fire departments, 123  and executive departments and agencies. 124  An 

                                                                                                                                                                              
10th Congressional District of Pennsylvania), cert. cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1003 (1995); United States v. Freeman, 
6 F.3d 586, 596-97 (9th Cir. 1993)(Offices of the 49th Assembly District), cert. denied, 511 U.S. 1077 (1994); 
United States v. Thompson, 685 F.2d 993 (6th Cir. 1982) (en banc) (applying RICO to the Tennessee Governor’s 
Office, but questioning the wisdom of not defining the enterprise in the indictment as a group of individuals 
associated in fact that made use of the office of Governor of the State of Tennessee), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1072 
(1983); United States v. Long, 651 F.2d 239, 241 (4th Cir.) (office of Senator in the South Carolina legislature), 
cert. denied, 454 U.S. 896 (1981); United States v. Sisk, 476 F. Supp. 1061, 1062-63 (M.D. Tenn. 1979), aff’d, 
629 F.2d 1174 (6th Cir. 1980) (Tennessee Governor’s Office), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 1084 (1981); see also 
United States v. Gillock, 445 U.S. 360, 373 n.11 (1979) ([o]f course, even a member of Congress would not be 
immune under the federal Speech or Debate Clause from prosecution for the acts which form the basis of the . . . 
[RICO] charges here). But see United States v. Mandel, 415 F. Supp. 997, 1020-22 (D. Md. 1976), rev’d on other 
grounds, 591 F.2d 1347 (4th Cir.), aff’d on reh’g, 602 F.2d 653 (4th Cir. 1979) (en banc) (state of Maryland not 
an enterprise for RICO purposes), cert. denied, 445 U.S. 961 (1980). Mandel, however, has been discredited by 
all courts that have considered the issue, including the Fourth Circuit. See, e.g., United States v. Angelilli, 660 
F.2d 23, 33 n.10 (2d Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 455 U.S. 945 (1982); United States v. Long, 651 F.2d 239, 241 
(4th Cir.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 896 (1981); United States v. Clark, 646 F.2d 1259, 1261-67 (8th Cir. 1981); 
United States v. Altomare, 625 F.2d 5, 7 n.7 (4th Cir. 1980); United States v. Baker, 617 F.2d 1060, 1061 (4th 
Cir. 1980); see also United States v. Powell, No. 87 CR 872-3 (N.D. Ill. February 27, 1988) (City of Chicago 
proper enterprise for purposes of RICO); State of New York v. O’Hara, 652 F. Supp. 1049 (W.D.N.Y. 1987) (in 
civil RICO suit, City of Niagara Falls proper enterprise); Commonwealth v. Cianfrani, 600 F. Supp. 1364 (E.D. 
Pa. 1985) (Pennsylvania Senate). 
119 See United States v. Grubb, 11 F.3d 426, 438 (4th Cir. 1993)(55 Office of the 7th Judicial Circuit); United 
States v. Conn, 769 F.2d 420, 424-25 (7th Cir. 1985) (Cook County Circuit Court); United States v. Blackwood, 
768 F.2d 131, 137-38 (7th Cir.) (Cook County Circuit Court), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 1020 (1985); United States 
v. Angelilli, 660 F.2d 23, 30-34 (2d Cir. 1981) (New York City Civil Court), cert. denied, 455 U.S. 945 (1982); 
United States v. Sutherland, 656 F.2d 1181 (5th Cir. 1981) (applying RICO without discussion to Municipal 
Court of El Paso, Texas), cert. denied, 455 U.S. 949 (1982); United States v. Stratton, 649 F.2d 1066, 1074-75 
(5th Cir. 1981) (judicial circuit); United States v. Bacheler, 611 F.2d 443, 450 (3d Cir. 1979) (Philadelphia Traffic 
Court); United States v. Joseph, 526 F. Supp. 504, 507 (E.D. Pa. 1981) (Office of the Clerk of Courts of Lehigh 
County, Pennsylvania); United States v. Vignola, 464 F. Supp. 1091 (E.D. Pa.), aff’d, 605 F.2d 1199 (3d Cir. 
1979) (same), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 1072 (1980). 
120 See United States v. DePeri, 778 F.2d 963 (3d Cir. 1985) (Philadelphia Police Department), cert. denied, 475 
U.S. 1109 (1986); United States v. Alonso, 740 F.2d 862, 870 (11th Cir. 1984) (Dade County Public Safety 
Department, Homicide Section), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1166 (1985); United States v. Ambrose, 740 F.2d 505, 
512 (7th Cir. 1984) (Chicago Police Department), cert. denied, 472 U.S. 1017 (1985); United States v. Davis, 
707 F.2d 880, 882-83 (6th Cir. 1983) (Sheriff’s Office of Mahoning County, Ohio); United States v. Lee Stoller 
Enterprise, Inc., 652 F.2d 1313, 1316-19 (7th Cir.) (Sheriff’s Office of Madison County, Illinois), cert. denied, 454 
U.S. 1082 (1981); United States v. Bright, 630 F.2d 804, 829 (5th Cir. 1980) (Sheriff’s Office of DeSoto County, 
Mississippi); United States v. Karas, 624 F.2d 500, 504 (4th Cir. 1980) (Office of County Law Enforcement 
Officials), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 1078 (1981); United States v. Baker, 617 F.2d 1060, 1061 (4th Cir. 1980) 
(Sheriff’s Department of Wilson County, North Carolina); United States v. Grzywacz, 603 F.2d 682, 685-87 (7th 
Cir. 1979) (Police Department of Madison, Illinois), cert. denied, 446 U.S. 935 (1980); United States v. Burnsed, 
566 F.2d 882 (4th Cir. 1977) (applying RICO without discussion to the Vice Squad of the Charleston, South 
Carolina Police Department), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 1077 (1978); United States v. Brown, 555 F.2d 407, 415-16 
(5th Cir. 1977) (Macon, Georgia Municipal Police Department), cert. denied, 435 U.S. 904 (1978); United States 
v. Cryan, 490 F. Supp. 1234, 1239-44 (D.N.J.) (applying RICO to Sheriff’s Office of Essex County, New Jersey, 
but limiting RICO culpability to only those defendants who actually committed or authorized the acts charged in 
the indictment), aff’d, 636 F.2d 1211 (3d Cir. 1980). 
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enterprise may also be comprised of a combination of entities125 called an 
association-in-fact.126 

                                                                                                                                                                              
121 See United States v. Goot, 894 F.2d 231, 239 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 811 (1990); United States v. 
Yonan, 800 F.2d 167-68 (7th Cir. 1986) (Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 1055 
(1987); United States v. Altomare, 625 F.2d 5, 7 n.7 (4th Cir. 1980) (Office of Prosecuting Attorney of Hancock 
County, West Virginia). 
122 See United States v. Burns, 683 58 F.2d 1056, 1059 n.2 (7th Cir. 1982) (Cook County, Illinois, Board of Tax 
Appeals), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1173 (1983); United States v. Frumento, 563 F.2d 1083, 1089-92 (3d Cir. 
1977) (Pennsylvania Department of Revenue’s Bureau of Cigarette and Beverage Taxes), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 
1072 (1978). 
123  See United States v. Balzano, 916 F.2d 1273, 1290 (7th Cir. 1990)(Chicago Fire Department). 
124 See United States v. Hocking, 860 F.2d 769, 778 (8th Cir. 1988) (Illinois Department of Transportation); 
United States v. Dozier, 672 F.2d 531, 543 and n.8 (5th Cir.) (Louisiana Department of Agriculture), cert. denied, 
459 U.S. 943 (1982); United States v. Angelilli, 660 F.2d 23, 33 n.10 (2d Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 455 U.S. 945 
(1982); United States v. Long, 651 F.2d 239, 241 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 896 (1981); United States v. 
Clark, 646 F.2d 1259, 1261-67 (8th Cir. 1981); United States v. Altomare, 625 F.2d 5, 7 n.7 (4th Cir. 1980); 
United States v. Baker, 617 F.2d 1060, 1061 (4th Cir. 1980); United States v. Davis, 576 F.2d 1065, 1067 (3d 
Cir.) (warden of county prison), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 836 (1978); State of Maryland v. Buzz Berg Wrecking Co., 
496 F. Supp. 245, 247-48 (D. Md. 1980) (Construction and Building Inspection Division of the Department of 
Housing and Community Development for the City of Baltimore); United States v. Barber, 476 F. Supp. 182, 191 
(S.D. W. Va. 1979) (West Virginia Alcohol Beverage Control Commission). 
125 See United States v. Parise, 159 F.3d 790, 794-95 (3d Cir. 1998) (enterprise consisted of four organizations); 
United States v. London, 66 F.3d 1227, 1243-44 (1st Cir. 1995)(two or more legal entities), cert. denied, 511 
U.S. 1155 (1996); United States v. Console, 13 F.3d 641, 652 (3d Cir. 1993)(law firm and medical practice), cert. 
denied, 511 U.S. 1076 (1994); United States v. Blinder, 10 F.3d 1468, 1473 (9th Cir. 1993)(six corporations); 
United States v. Butler, 954 F.2d 114, 120 (2d Cir. 1992)(broad enterprise consisting of Local 200, the pension 
funds, and Local 362); United States v. Collins, 927 F.2d 605 (6th Cir.)(Table)(group of corporations), cert. 
denied, 502 U.S. 858 (1991); United States v. Masters, 924 F.2d 1362, 1366 (7th Cir.)(law firm, two police 
departments, and three individuals who are defendants), cert. denied, 500 U.S. 919 (1991); United States v. 
Stolfi, 889 F.2d 378, 379-80 (2d Cir. 1989) (local union and its welfare benefit fund); United States v. Feldman, 
853 F.2d 648, 655-59 (9th Cir. 1988) (association of five corporations and two individuals, including the 
defendant), cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1030 (1989); United States v. Perholtz, 842 F.2d 343, 352-54 (D.C. Cir.) 
(group of individuals, corporations, and partnerships), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 821 (1988); United States v. Pryba, 
674 F. Supp. 1504, 1508 (E.D. Va. 1987) (enterprise could consist of group of individuals and corporations); 
Snider v. Lone Star Art Trading Co., 659 F. Supp. 1249, 1253 (E.D. Mich. 1987) (group of individuals and 
corporations proper enterprise); United States v. Dellacroce, 625 F. Supp. 1387, 1390 (E.D.N.Y. 1986) (two 
crews of the Gambino Crime Family and their supervisor sufficient RICO enterprise); United States v. Aimone, 
715 F.2d 822, 826 (3d Cir. 1983) (enterprise may be comprised of a combination of illegal entities and a group 
of individuals associated in fact), cert. denied, 468 U.S. 1217 (1984); United States v. Thevis, 665 F.2d 616, 625-
26 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 1008 (1982); United States v. Huber, 603 F.2d 387, 393-94 (2d Cir. 1979), 
cert. denied, 445 U.S. 927 (1980); United States v. Campanale, 518 F.2d 352, 357 n.11 (9th Cir. 1975) 
(enterprise composed of two corporations and a union), cert. denied, 423 U.S. 1050 (1976). 
126 See United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 581 (1981); United States v. Nabors, 45 F.3d 238 (8th Cir. 1995) 
(association-in-fact consisting of the defendants); United States v. Stefan, 784 F.2d 1093, 1103 (11th Cir.) 
(enterprise consisting of a group of individuals associated in fact sufficient where individuals identified by name), 
cert. denied, 479 U.S. 1009 (1986); United States v. Mitchell, 777 F.2d 248, 259 (5th Cir. 1985) (group of 
individuals associated together for the purpose of importing marijuana sufficient for RICO enterprise), cert. 
denied, 476 U.S. 1184 (1986); United States v. Local 560, Int’l Brotherhood of Teamsters, 780 F.2d 267, 273 
(3d Cir. 1985) (Provenzano group, group of individuals, could constitute enterprise), cert. denied, 476 U.S. 1140 
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DISCUSSION 17. CASE PRECEDENTS:  PATTERN OF RACKETEERING ACTIVITIES 
“A pattern may be comprised of any combination of two or more of these state or federal 

crimes committed within a statutorily prescribed time period. Moreover, the predicate acts must be 
related and amount to or pose a threat of, continued criminal activity.” U.S. Department of Justice, 
RACKETEER INFLUENCED & CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS: A MANUAL FOR FEDERAL PROSECUTORS, Fourth 
Edition , July 2000, at 4.127  

It is my allegation that the U.S. Congress blocking ARTICLE V CONVENTION calls by the States to 
amend the Constitution;128 the Federal Government’s Tenth Amendment power grab129 against the 
States and the People and the States are fight back with the Tenth Amendment Resolution130 and the 
Tenth Amendment Talking Points;131 and Congress clamping down on Private Bills to zero from 1945 
to 2008; and the U.S. Supreme Court’s transition from the TREASON DOCTRINE under Cohens v. 
Virginia 19 U. S. 264 (1821),132 to the NO SET OF FACTS DOCTRINE under Conley v. Gibson, 355 U. S. 

                                                                                                                                                                              
(1986); United States v. Santoro, 647 F. Supp. 153, 176 (E.D.N.Y. 1986) (Luchese Family alleged as association-
infact enterprise), aff’d, 880 F.2d 1319 (2d Cir. 1989); Van Dorn Co. v. Howington, 623 F. Supp. 1548, 1554 
(N.D. Ohio 1985) (unnamed association of defendants could constitute proper enterprise). 
127 Available Online at: http://www.usdoj.gov/usao/eousa/foia_reading_room/usam/title9/rico.pdf.  
128  See FRIENDS OF ARTICLE V CONVENTION Website at www.foavc.org “Some opponents to Article V try to 
perpetuate fear of an Article V Convention by claiming that it could be a run-away convention. However, that 
fear-mongering is not based on any facts or history. Already, the American states have had 679 (or more) 
Constitutional Conventions, and none of them were run-away conventions. Recently, Iraq and Afghanistan have 
had Constitutional Conventions. Many nations have Constitutional Conventions. It should also be pointed out 
that no amendment to the U.S. Constitution can become law unless ratified by three-fourths of the states.  That, 
by design, is a significant hurdle. Over 10,000 amendments to the U.S. Constitution have been proposed over the 
past 220 years, but only 27 have been ratified. Thus, the fear-mongering about a run-away convention is 
unjustified. What is a major concern however, is the blatant violation by Congress to call an Article V Convention 
as specified in the U.S. Constitution.” See LIST OF 679 AMERICAN STATE CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTIONS (between 
1776 and 1917) at www.article-5.org/file.php/1/Articles/StateConstitutionalConventions.pdf.  See also, Judge Bruce M. Van 
Sickle  and  Attorney Lynn M. Boughey, A LAWFUL AND PEACEFUL REVOLUTION:  ARTICLE V AND CONGRESS' 
PRESENT DUTY TO CALL A CONVENTION FOR PROPOSING AMENDMENTS, Hamline Law Review (Fall 1990), in three 
parts. See also, Bill Walker (pro se), ARTICLE V CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION HISTORY: BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF 

CONVENTION, GENERAL BRIEF ARGUMENTS, pp. 215–268. (September 30, 2004). Joel S. Hirschhorn, 
CONSTITUTIONAL RUBBISH, (May 14, 2009) 

http://foavc.org/file.php/1/Articles/ConstitutionalRubbish20090514.pdf.  

http://www.article-5.org/file.php/1/Articles/StateConstitutionalConventions.pdf  
129 See generally, The Tenth Amendment Center, http://www.tenthamendmentcenter.com/; and David Gordon, 
PLANNERS IN BLACK ROBES, online September 1, 2009 at http://www.tenthamendmentcenter.com/2009/09/01/planners-in-
black-robes/; and STATE SOVEREIGNTY SOLUTIONS, online February 23, 2009 at  
http://www.tenthamendmentcenter.com/2009/02/23/state-sovereignty-resolutions/. 
130 http://www.tenthamendmentcenter.com/10th-amendment-resolution/.  
131 http://www.tenthamendmentcenter.com/tenth-amendment-talking-points/.  
132 “It is most true that this Court will not take jurisdiction if it should not; but it is equally true that it must take 
jurisdiction if it should. The judiciary can not, as the legislature may, avoid a measure because it approaches the 
confines of the Constitution. We cannot pass it by because it is doubtful. With whatever doubts, with whatever 
difficulties, a case may be attended, we must decide it if it be brought before us. We have no more right to decline 
the exercise of jurisdiction which is given than to usurp that which is not given. The one or the other would be 
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41, 45-46 (1957),133 to the PLAUSIBLE STANDARD under Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly 550 U.S. 544 
(2007), 134  establishes proof by the preponderance of the evidence that there is, in fact and law, 
a pattern of tyrannical government oppression sufficient to sustain the allegation of racketeering 
activity. 

 Citing U.S. Department of Justice, RACKETEER INFLUENCED & CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS: A 
MANUAL FOR FEDERAL PROSECUTORS, Fourth Edition, July 2000, at 76–81 (footnotes omitted): 

E. Pattern of Racketeering Activity 

The definition of a pattern of racketeering activity is one of the most important in the 
RICO statute because it defines a key element of each substantive RICO offense under 
Section 1962. Section 1961(5) provides that a pattern of racketeering activity requires at 
least two acts of racketeering activity, one of which occurred after the effective date of 
this chapter [October 15, 1970] and the last of which occurred within ten years 
(excluding any period of imprisonment) after the commission of a prior act of 
racketeering. 

The two violations may both be state offenses, federal offenses, or a combination of the 
two; they may be violations of the same statute, or of different statutes; and the acts 
need not have previously been charged.104 The Supreme Court, however, has 
concluded that the pattern provision means there is something to a RICO pattern 
beyond simply the number of predicate acts involved. 

1. Continuity and Relationship—Sedima S.P.R.L. and its Progeny 

In Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479 n.14 (1985), the Supreme Court stated 
that the RICO pattern element required more than merely proving two predicate acts of 
racketeering. The Court pointed to legislative history indicating that the RICO pattern 
was not designed to cover merely sporadic or isolated unlawful activity, but rather was 
intended to cover racketeering activity that demonstrated some relationship and the 
threat of continuing [unlawful] activity. Accordingly, the Supreme Court ruled that proof 
of such continuity plus relationship was required to establish a RICO pattern in addition 
to proof of two acts of racketeering.  

Following Sedima, the Eighth Circuit formulated the strictest test, holding that multiple 
acts of racketeering activity did not constitute a pattern under RICO when the acts were 
all related to a single scheme or criminal episode.106  

In H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Telephone Co., 492 U.S. 229 (1989), the Supreme 
Court unanimously rejected the Eighth Circuit’s multiple-scheme requirement to 

                                                                                                                                                                              
treason to the Constitution. Questions may occur which we would gladly avoid, but we cannot avoid them. 
All we can do is to exercise our best judgment and conscientiously to perform our duty.” 
133 “In appraising the sufficiency of the complaint, we follow, of course, the accepted rule that a complaint should 
not be dismissed for failure to state a claim unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of 
facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief.” 
134 “Asking for plausible grounds does not impose a probability requirement at the pleading stage; it simply calls 
for enough fact to raise a reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal evidence of illegal agreement. The 
need at the pleading stage for allegations plausibly suggesting (not merely consistent with) agreement reflects Rule 
8(a)(2)'s threshold requirement that the plain statement possess enough heft to sho[w] that the pleader is entitled 
to relief.” 
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establish a pattern of racketeering activity and reversed the lower court’s affirmation of 
the dismissal of a civil RICO claim for failure to allege a pattern of racketeering 
activity.107 The case involved an alleged bribery scheme by Northwestern Bell designed 
to illegally influence members of the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission in the 
performance of their duties as regulators of Northwestern Bell. The Eighth Circuit 
affirmed the dismissal, holding that the petitioner’s allegations were insufficient to 
establish the requisite continuity prong because the complaint alleged only a series of 
fraudulent acts committed in furtherance of a single scheme to influence the 
Commissioners. In light of the division among the circuits, the Supreme Court granted 
certiorari to determine whether proof of multiple separate schemes was necessary to 
establish a RICO pattern of racketeering activity. 

The Supreme Court held that RICO does not require proof of multiple schemes, stating 
in part as follows: The Eighth Circuit’s test brings a rigidity to the available methods of 
proving a pattern that simply is not present in the idea of continuity itself; and it does so, 
moreover, by introducing a concept—the scheme—that appears nowhere in the 
language or legislative history of the Act. 492 U.S. at 240-41.  

The Court concluded that a prosecutor must prove continuity of racketeering activity, or 
its threat, simpliciter. 490 U.S. at 241. Because the proof could be made in many ways, 
the Court declined to formulate in the abstract a general test for continuity but provided 
the following delineation: 

Continuity is both a closed and open-ended concept, referring either to a 
closed period of repeated conduct, or to past conduct that by its nature 
projects into the future with a threat of repetition. . . . It is, in either case, 
centrally a temporal concept--and particularly so in the RICO context, 
where what must be continuous, RICO’s predicate acts or offenses, and 
the relationship these predicates must bear one to another, are distinct 
requirements. A party alleging a RICO violation may demonstrate 
continuity over a closed period by proving a series of related predicates 
extending over a substantial period of time. Predicate acts extending 
over a few weeks or months and threatening no future criminal conduct 
do not satisfy this requirement: Congress was concerned in RICO with 
long-term criminal conduct. Often a RICO action will be brought before 
continuity can be established in this way. In such cases, liability depends 
on whether the threat of continuity is demonstrated. [emphasis in 
original]  

Whether the predicates proved establish a threat of continued 
racketeering activity depends on the specific facts of each case. Without 
making any claim to cover the field of possibilities--preferring to deal 
with this issue in the context of concrete factual situations presented for 
decision--we offer some examples of how this element might be satisfied. 
A RICO pattern may surely be established if the related 
predicates themselves involve a distinct threat of long-term 
racketeering activity, either implicit or explicit. Suppose a 
hoodlum were to sell insurance to a neighborhood’s storekeepers to 
cover them against breakage of their windows, telling his victims he 
would be reappearing each month to collect the premium that would 
continue their coverage. Though the number of related predicates 
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involved may be small and they may occur close together in time, the 
racketeering acts themselves include a specific threat of repetition 
extending indefinitely into the future, and thus supply the requisite threat 
of continuity. In other cases, the threat of continuity may be 
established by showing that the predicate acts or offenses are 
part of an ongoing entity’s regular way of doing business. Thus, 
the threat of continuity is sufficiently established where the 
predicates can be attributed to a defendant operating as part of 
a long-term association that exists for criminal purposes. Such 
associations include, but extend well beyond, those traditionally grouped 
under the phrase organized crime. The continuity requirement is likewise 
satisfied where it is shown that the predicates are a regular way of 
conducting defendant’s ongoing legitimate business (in the sense that it is 
not a business that exists for criminal purposes), or of conducting or 
participating in an ongoing and legitimate RICO enterprise. 

492 U.S. at 241-43 (citations omitted)(emphasis added). 

 

 


